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Friday, February 1, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

We are sitting today in continuance of EB No. 2012-0337.  I see we have the APPrO panel ready, and before we have them sworn in, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  One minor preliminary matter.  We filed answers to undertakings.

MS. CONBOY:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  We have since noticed that one of them, J1.5, is missing an attachment, so we're just going to refile the whole thing and that's going to be done shortly.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Smith.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I placed what has been filed on your table there.  You will see there are two CVs which I expect will be marked shortly, and underneath that is a copy of the undertaking responses.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  The undertakings that have yet to be updated; is that right?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. FRANK:  Madam Chair, we're just reviewing the undertakings and we'll talk offline with Union.  There may be some additional materials that need to be filed before it gets updated.

MS. CONBOY:  That's great.  So you can look after that over --


MR. FRANK:  We will deal with that during the break.

MS. CONBOY:  During the break.  Perfect.  If that's it, we'll have the witnesses sworn, please.

MS. HARE:  Are they being introduced first?

MR. FRANK:  I was planning to have both witnesses up at the same time.

One is really a fact witness and one I was intending to have qualified as an expert, and I'm in the hands of the Board in terms of whether I run through directly with one, and then the next, or get kind of them both introduced and qualified.  My intention was to just do Mr. Zarumba first, and then Mr. Russell, if that is all right.

MS. CONBOY:  That sounds fine.  Thank you.
ASSOCIATION OF POWER PRODUCERS OF ONTARIO - PANEL 1

Ralph Zarumba, Sworn


Sean Russell, Sworn


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Frank, go ahead, please.
Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Frank


MR. FRANK:  Good morning.

In support of APPrO's position in this matter, APPrO prefiled evidence from Navigant Consulting, and that evidence is found at appendix A to Exhibit C2.  It's a report entitled, "DSM Funding Options For Large Natural Gas Customers".

It had been intended that Mr. Todd Williams of Navigant would appear today in respect of the Navigant report.  However, due to a scheduling conflict, Mr. Williams is unable to be here today, and, in Mr. Williams' place, Mr. Ralph Zarumba of Navigant Consulting is here.

Mr. Zarumba, you have been sworn?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes, I have.

MR. FRANK:  And is it correct that you worked with Mr. Williams and were involved in aspects of the preparation and review of the Navigant report filed with the Board as part of APPrO's prefiled evidence?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And you participated in the design of the survey of APPrO members in respect of DSM funding and energy efficiency spending?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And, in particular, you were involved in the review of cost recovery mechanisms in various jurisdictions associated with DSM initiatives?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  And you provided background information on the policies of the US Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, as well as the regulatory mechanisms used to recover program costs from various customer groups?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  And you've reviewed with Mr. Williams and are familiar with all aspects of the Navigant report?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  And the same is the case for the answers to interrogatories in respect of the Navigant report?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is accurate.

MR. FRANK:  If I could just address Mr. Zarumba's professional qualifications for a moment, and I believe that copies of his curriculum vitae has been -- have been made available.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We might get those marked.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Exhibit K2.1 will be Mr. Zarumba's CV.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  CV OF RALPH ZARUMBA.

MR. FRANK:  Thank you.

Mr. Zarumba, you're currently a director in the energy practice's power systems, markets and pricing group in Navigant's Chicago office; correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And you have almost 28 years of experience in planning, regulatory and economic analysis in the electrical power and natural gas industry?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  Can you just briefly describe some of your experience in industry or with any utilities?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  From the period of 1985 through 1986, I worked at a number of regulated utilities in the United States.  Three of those four utilities were combination, electric, natural gas or electric, natural gas and steam utilities.  One was an electric-only utility.

In 1996, I became a consultant.  I have worked for various firms and have had my own firm providing advice involving regulatory, economic, policy analysis and various other aspects involving the energy industry.

MR. FRANK:  You've testified as an expert witness at a number of venues, including FERC, the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities, the Rhode Island Public Utilities Commission, the Illinois Commerce Commission, the Wisconsin Public Service Commission, the New York Public Service Commission and before the Ontario Energy Board; correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  And you've appeared as an expert witness in a number of regulatory and legal proceedings addressing topics with respect to various utility planning, revenue requirement and policy matters?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  And you've prepared recent white papers for the Ontario Energy Board on topics such as approaches to rate mitigation for transmitters and distributors, and the Ontario Energy Board cost assessment model?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  I would ask, Madam Chair, that Mr. Zarumba be accepted as a witness, an expert witness qualified to provide evidence in connection with funding options for demand side management programs, system planning and regulatory issues and power plant strategies.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Are there any objections or questions?

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I am not sure I have an objection. I just wanted to get a fix on the breadth of the qualifications of the witness, and if I could just ask a couple of questions, if I might?

MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead.
Cross-Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Mr. Zarumba, first of all, are you purporting to be an expert on polling?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Are you saying surveys, statistical analysis?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I have done that work in my career, as I was -- my master's degree is in economics from DePaul University.  I had two specialties.  One was international economics.  The other was quantitative methods.  That would include statistics, econometrics, times series analysis and such.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I am just wondering, is your -- you've obviously done a lot of work on rate recovery mechanisms for DSM and other utility activities, but I'm wondering if you have done work in actual program planning of DSM.


MR. ZARUMBA:  I have been involved in policy analysis.  If you're saying -- when you're saying program planning, are you talking about putting together actual details of programs?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Do actual -- have you been involved in project evaluation, DSM project evaluation?

MR. ZARUMBA:  On and off in my career.  Also, Navigant -- I have interacted quite a bit with the energy efficiency group at Navigant, which is -- essentially almost all of what they do is program evaluation.

It was a company formerly -- we acquired about three years ago, formerly known as Summit Blue, which is one of the leaders in the industry.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you, Madam Chair.  That is helpful.  I have no objection to Mr. Zarumba.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Wanless.
Cross-Examination on Qualifications by Mr. Wanless:


MR. WANLESS:  I have a couple of questions.

You did say that you were experienced in DSM programs; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I have been involved in the regulatory issues of energy efficiency programs, I mean, going back to their inception, middle '80s.

MR. WANLESS:  Can you expand a bit on what you mean by your regulatory involvement?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Basically designing regulatory mechanisms and fitting the energy efficiency programs into the regulatory milieu of cost recovery, and issues such as lost revenue issues, cost assessments and those matters.  Does that answer your question?

MR. WANLESS:  Yes.  And you're speaking specifically about DSM programs?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And have you had any involvement in natural gas DSM?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Not directly, no.

MR. WANLESS:  And large-scale industrial DSM programs?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And I haven't had a chance to fully review your CV, so forgive me if this information is in here, but I take it you would have some experience with various different jurisdictions?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Absolutely.

MR. WANLESS:  And can you describe the breadth of your experience with different jurisdictions?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Well, there was a listing of all of the jurisdictions I have testified in front of, appeared as an expert witness.  A larger number that I have done work in.  Included -- not mentioned also is that I have done quite a bit of international work that would also include energy efficiency, through commercial projects that would include Europe, Asia, Central America, and also work through the US Agency for International Development, generally known as USAID.

MR. WANLESS:  And as part of your work with DSM programs, would that have involved any analysis based on TRC benefit-cost ratios?

MR. ZARUMBA:  On and off in my career, I've been involved in benefit analysis, yes.  Design of the mechanisms, evaluations of the mechanisms, which is appropriate.

MR. WANLESS:  That's fine.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  No objections.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Crane?

MR. CRANE:  No objections.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  No objections.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Thank you.  The Panel will accept Mr. Zarumba as an expert witness.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Frank:


MR. FRANK:  Thank you.

Mr. Zarumba, if we refer to the Navigant report at appendix A to Exhibit C2, just to confirm, you participated in the preparation of the report, and have you reviewed it in its entirety in?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  Have you reviewed the interrogatory responses pertaining to the report?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  Are there any material corrections to be made to the report or the interrogatory responses -- sorry, any material corrections to the report, other than as outlined in the interrogatory responses?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. FRANK:  And any material corrections to be made to the interrogatory responses?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. FRANK:  Do you adopt under oath and as your evidence in these proceedings the information provided in the Navigant report and the interrogatory responses relating to that report?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  Can you just briefly describe what the -- what Navigant was asked to do in preparing the report?

MR. ZARUMBA:  The report essentially had two goals.

One, to provide a review of policies in other jurisdictions involving demand-side management costs for natural gas utilities, specifically involving electric generators.

The second is a survey of APPrO members in their participation and their views of this program.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  If we could deal with each of those briefly, starting with the jurisdictional review.

If you could just provide a brief summary of what review and analysis Navigant undertook in preparing that part of the report?

MR. ZARUMBA:  In doing the jurisdictional review, we had staff, primarily out of our Canada office and then myself out of the Chicago office, do telephone surveys of various regulators and regulatory agencies.

The questions were focussed on:  Are your energy efficiency programs involving natural gas utilities -- do they include electric generators?  If so, are they required to participate, or can they opt out?  Or not participate?

MR. FRANK:  Was there any other information or analysis done as part of the jurisdictional review?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We also took a look at where the environment may differ, where it makes the question irrelevant.

For example, several states in the US essentially do not have any significant merchant generation.  So the point becomes irrelevant.

Too, in the United States large users of natural gas are allowed to interconnect to the interstate pipeline systems.  The interstate pipeline systems in the United States are regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, and these pipelines generally do not offer demand-side management programs.  Therefore, the point is moot.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And other jurisdictions in the United States, other than those you have just described, how do they treat DSM funding?

MR. ZARUMBA:  By and large, they do not include electric generators in DSM programs.

Our responses to questions varied, but, for example, in Illinois it is a special tariff that is different from other large users.  It is specifically negotiated.  It does not include DSM costs.

Wisconsin, they just do not allocate the cost, if a generator is attached to the local distribution system as opposed to a pipeline.

Ohio legislatively allows an opt-out.

MR. FRANK:  I meant to ask earlier, were there particular jurisdictions in the United States that the Navigant report focussed on?

MR. ZARUMBA:  The Navigant report focussed on the following jurisdictions: Minnesota, Wisconsin, Illinois, Michigan and Ohio.

MR. FRANK:  How were those jurisdictions selected?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We generally attempted to find jurisdictions that were contiguous or electrically close to Ontario, so essentially upper midwest or upper northeast.

MR. FRANK:  Did the Navigant report consider jurisdictions in Canada?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  We also included jurisdictions in Canada.  We did a telephone survey.

MR. FRANK:  And what were the conclusions reached with regard to those jurisdictions?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Outside of Ontario, we did not find specific opt-out provisions.

However, BC, we just could not make a connection with.  There were several attempts to call; we could not get a call back from the commission.

Alberta, which is very similar to Ontario in that they have retail open access, does not have opt-out, but they also just simply don't have demand-side management that was application to this generation.

Nova Scotia, there was an opt-out -- there is a precedent for opt-out for large industrials on the electric side.

Within Ontario, Enbridge does not include the electric generators in their DSM programs.

MR. FRANK:  And how about the other jurisdictions in Canada that you have not mentioned?

MR. ZARUMBA:  They generally are not comparable, because most do not have retail open access.  So generally the amount of merchant generation activity is limited.

That is not -- which is not the case in Ontario.

MR. FRANK:  If I could turn now to some questions on the survey of APPrO members as reviewed or explained in the report, can you explain what review and analysis Navigant undertook in respect of this issue?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Very broadly, our analysis was focussed upon how they use natural gas, what their views were in terms of the energy efficiency programs, you know, how these programs would impact their maintenance programs, and what they would have done with and without.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And to whom was the survey sent?

MR. ZARUMBA:  The survey was sent to all APPrO members.

MR. FRANK:  And what type of response rate, generally, was received?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We received 13 responses from 11 unique companies which are served by Union Gas.  We also included in the original survey the members that are served by Enbridge.

And the numbers that I am going to be quoting, though, I think it's most relevant to just discuss the Union responses.

MR. FRANK:  And those are found at appendix A to Exhibit D5, I believe, which is a response to an interrogatory from GEC, Interrogatory No. -- oh, no, I apologize.

It follows Interrogatory 35 at page 38 of 38, Exhibit D5, just for reference.

Did Navigant reach any conclusions regarding the use or the nature of the use of natural gas by those who responded to the survey?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  Our conclusion was that virtually all natural gas used in the power plant is used to produce electricity, approximately 96 percent -- excuse me, 98 percent, I stand corrected -- which is no surprise.  It is a power plant. That is what they do.  They have very few other end uses for natural gas.

MR. FRANK:  And did Navigant reach any conclusions with regard to the implementation, the extent of implementation of energy management programs within the members surveyed?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes, 83 percent of the respondents stated they have an energy management program.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And did you reach any conclusions regarding use of the DSM program, and, in particular, perhaps if we could turn up the appendix A to Exhibit D5?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I...

MR. FRANK:  I am looking at table 3, in particular.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes, 54 percent of the respondents --


MR. FRANK:  If we could just wait and make sure that people have had a chance?

So this is an appendix that follows page 38 of 38 of Exhibit D5.  That would be the easiest way to find it.  Are we all right?

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I have it.

MR. FRANK:  So at appendix A, the pages are numbered.  We're looking at page 3 in the bottom right.  There is a table on that page at the top entitled "Table 3: Responses to questions 4-8".

And so based on these questions and the responses received, did Navigant reach any conclusions about use of the DSM program by APPrO members?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes, 54 percent of the members, of the respondents, stated they have used the program.

MR. FRANK:  And can you comment on the responses to and your conclusions or interpretation of the responses to question number 6, which reads:
"If incentives from Union Gas were used to contribute to project costs, please indicate whether this investment would have been made within three years if these incentives had not been available."


MR. ZARUMBA:  Sixty-two percent of the respondents state that they would have made the investment regardless of the incentive.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And can you draw any conclusions or do you have any interpretation about those results?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I would say that the impact of these incentives and these programs on the investment behaviour of the power plants would be negligible, because the investments would have been made anyway.

MR. FRANK:  And why do you say that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Because 62 percent said that they would have been made within the next three years.

MR. FRANK:  Well, how about the other 38 percent who said they wouldn't?

MR. ZARUMBA:  The other 38 percent stated they would not have, and that could be explained by -- potentially by a number of other factors.

You may have a plant that was essentially what we would call in shutdown mode; it was approaching retirement.  So without an incentive, essentially you just would have let the plant run and shut down.  There would have been -- you know, there would not have been a reasonable payback.

It could have addressed a number of other operational issues, which I believe my colleague would probably go into better detail in being a plant manager.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And if you could turn over, please, to the next page, page 4, and that is table 5, regarding questions 11 to 12.

Can you please summarize the conclusions reached by Navigant with regard to the members' views on opt-out?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Seventy-seven percent of the respondents stated, if given the option, they would opt out of the DSM programs.

MR. FRANK:  And these are respondents within the Union Gas franchise?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And can you please let us know what interpretation you have of the results to the next question about self-direct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Only 15 percent of the respondents stated that they would participate in a self-direct program.

I would interpret that result that they would essentially -- their preference is to simply do the maintenance themselves, they operate their own plants.

MR. FRANK:  I believe you were here yesterday, Mr. Zarumba --


MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  -- when Union gave its evidence?  Yes?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  If I could ask -- I don't know if copies from the transcript from yesterday are available?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The Panel has a copy?

MS. CONBOY:  We have one copy, yes.

MR. FRANK:  We have an extra copy.

If I could take you to page 88, sir?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Very good.

MR. FRANK:  I'm sorry, I've lost my reference.  I have different pagination.  Oh, here it is.  At the bottom, starting at line 27 -- and I will just read out to you a little bit and ask for your comment.  There is a discussion that begins at line 27 with Mr. Wanless:
"And I would ask you to turn to page 29, and this is 29 of a report, and I will be referring to the last paragraph of the page or the first bulleted point.  According to this bulleted point, on my reading of it, low DSM program participation rates in early years create a significant lost opportunity in terms of total DSM savings that will actually be achieved.  Is that correct?

Ms. Lynch said:
"Yes.  In the year that you don't -- a changeover is done and it is not done in the most efficient fashion, then it creates a lost opportunity."

And then the question:
"So it's important to do things sooner rather than later?"

And the answer is, "Correct."

Can you please give your views on the comments made to the questions and the answers given there?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I think that is a very simplistic view of the way that power plants are operated and maintained.  They are on specific major and minor maintenance schedules.  You know, to just assume that one discrete activity could occur independently without -- you know, ignoring the timing does not indicate a good knowledge of how these plants are operated, and, you know, and what is efficient for the plants.

MR. FRANK:  Well, can you please expand on what your view is about timing and whether or not opportunities to do work sooner rather than later lead -- what your views are in terms of the efficiency of that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Well, I could think of some examples where you could actually decrease efficiency.  For example, if it's summer, you're in a peak period.  Power prices are extremely high.  You don't take the plant down to do what may be a relatively minor maintenance fix because it makes the plant more efficient, quote-unquote.  You are going to wait until power prices come down.  You may -- they may not even have the option in certain cases.  The IESO might be ordering everything to run out if it is a critical peak period.

So I think that is one extreme example about, you know, this -- you can't just pick these things up independently, discretely, state that this is an efficiency.

Power plants are complex things.  Very often the sequence, when you're taking things apart and putting things back together, has to be done in a planned manner, coordinated with other activities.

MR. FRANK:  Can you explain what you mean by that, the sequencing?

MR. ZARUMBA:  There are major and minor maintenance cycles with any power plant as to when they are going to do things.

There are certain repairs that you would address immediately.  My colleague could probably go into a little bit more detail, but...

MR. RUSSELL:  Provide an example?

MR. FRANK:  I'm not sure, Madam Chair, if it is appropriate if Mr. Russell might give an example now, even though we haven't yet gone through his background, but he may have some -- something to add, or we can come back later and I can ask him --


MS. CONBOY:  Let's come back later.  We will hold that thought.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  Mr. Zarumba, in the Navigant report there is a conclusion that states:

"Navigant expects that there are very limited cost-effective opportunities to improve the efficiency of the generation process at gas-fired generation electric facilities, many of which are new, state of the art facilities."

Can you please explain your views on that conclusion, and your interpretation?

MR. ZARUMBA:  An electric-powered generator essentially produces one product, electricity.  In the case of a gas-fired generator, their largest controllable input is natural gas.

All the capital costs are fixed.  Most of the labour costs are fixed.  Even much of the maintenance cost is pretty much fixed; there is a little bit at the edge that might be incremental.

So they are -- you know, the one thing they can do, which increases efficiency, which increases the profitability of the plant, is to reduce heat rate.

So they have a very, very strong incentive to maximize the value of the plant.

Electricity is a commodity.  It is a competitive market, and generally one with a very, very low profit margin.

That all adds up, you know, to an organization that, if they're going to stay in business for any length of time, needs to be highly efficient.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  In your experience, do you have any -- sorry, do you have any experience about the extent to which or whether most plants would have any type of maintenance contracts with regard to the turbine or other major pieces of their equipment?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  Maintenance contracts are very common, especially in newer plants.  In fact, often are generally required in order to maintain the warranty.

MR. FRANK:  And that would conclude my examination of Mr. Zarumba.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. FRANK:  Unless there are any questions, I will go on with Mr. Russell.

MS. CONBOY:  Please do.

MR. FRANK:  And I believe Mr. Russell's CV has also been made available?

MS. CONBOY:  It has.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We will mark that as K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  CV OF SEAN RUSSELL.

MR. FRANK:  Mr. Russell, I understand you're the plant manager at London District Energy's facility in London, Ontario?

MR. RUSSELL:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And you've been there since 2011?

MR. RUSSELL:  That is also correct.

MR. FRANK:  And prior to -– and I'll call London District Energy LDE, just for convenience -- prior to your employment with LDE, you were employed by the City of London?

MR. RUSSELL:  I was.

MR. FRANK:  And in that employment, did you have any involvement with any conservation activities or projects for the city?

MR. RUSSELL:  I did.

MR. FRANK:  Can you describe that, briefly?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  My major role at the City of London was the corporate energy manager, and my main responsibilities were the efficient operations and conservation retrofits of City of London buildings' facilities.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And you have a bachelor of engineering science from University of Western Ontario, and you're a licensed professional engineer?

MR. RUSSELL:  I am.

MR. FRANK:  You have a certificate of business management from Ivey School of Business?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. FRANK:  And you're a LEED-accredited green building professional; is that correct?

MR. RUSSELL:  That's correct.

MR. FRANK:  Can you just briefly describe what was involved in getting that accreditation?

MR. RUSSELL:  Sure.  Part of my role at the City of London as corporate energy manager was to oversee the green building program, as well.  And as such -- or during that time, we built three LEED-certified buildings.

In terms of your question regarding obtaining that designation, it was a series of testing regarding of the various aspects of green buildings, with the primary focus on energy efficiency of those buildings.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  I understand that you're responsible for the preparation of the prefiled evidence entitled: "Union Gas's DSM program opt-out option for large industrial customers"; is that correct?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And do you have any corrections or clarifications -- and that is at Exhibit C2, B?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, I think that --


MR. FRANK:  Do you have any corrections to that?

MR. RUSSELL:  I do.  If everyone is at that piece of evidence on page 3, under the underlined paragraph "LDE is committed," the first bullet point, where it says "condensate return line," the project cost listed is approximately $320,000.  That was actually an initial project estimate; the actual costs came in closer to 320 -- or $400,000.

MR. FRANK:  Sorry, you said what?  Came in closer to?

MR. RUSSELL:  $400,000.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.

MR. RUSSELL:  And as well, the expected rebate from Union Gas, we were initially advised that the rebate would be valued at approximately $40,000, and then more recently advised that it would come in at $20,000, at the writing of this piece of evidence.

But we've subsequently received a rebate for $40,000.

And those are the corrections on that item.

MR. FRANK:  And you were responsible for the preparation of the answers to the interrogatories in respect of your evidence?

MR. RUSSELL:  That is correct.

MR. FRANK:  And do you have any corrections or clarifications in respect of the interrogatory responses?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, two minor wording corrections.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  If we could just wait until people have an opportunity, these are at Exhibit D5.

MR. RUSSELL:  D5.

MR. FRANK:  And they're interrogatory -- which interrogatory numbers?

MR. RUSSELL:  33 and 34.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  So that would be at pages...

MR. RUSSELL:  36.

MR. FRANK:  ...36 of 38, and 37 of 38?

MR. RUSSELL:  That's correct.

MR. FRANK:  And what are those corrections?

MR. RUSSELL:  In our response on Interrogatory 33, it states "LDE" at the last line:

"LDE does not expect to see any additional system benefits under an opt-out program."

That should read:

"LDE does not expect to see any changes to system benefits under an opt-out program."

MR. FRANK:  And you said No. 34, there is a correction?

MR. RUSSELL:  34, as well.

MR. FRANK:  Can you --


MR. RUSSELL:  Again, under the response on the last sentence:

"LDE does not expect to see any additional reduction in demand versus supply under an opt-out program."

That should read:

"LDE does not expect to see any change in demand versus supply under an opt-out program."

MR. FRANK:  And with those corrections, do you adopt your evidence and the answers to undertakings for the purpose of testifying today?

MR. RUSSELL:  I do.

MR. FRANK:  If you could just briefly describe the LDE facility that you manage?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  London District Energy is a 17-megawatt co-generation facility, in which it produces both power and thermal energy from the feedstock of natural gas.

It also, through that, creates 52 megawatts of incremental thermal energy, which it distributes to approximately 50 customers throughout the downtown core of London, Ontario, via a series of piping infrastructure under the right-of-ways of the City of London.

MR. FRANK:  And what are your responsibilities as plant manager?

MR. RUSSELL:  My primary responsibilities as plant manager are to ensure the reliable operation of the facility, the safe operation of the facility, both for its staff and for the general public, and for the economic performance of the facility, of which energy efficiency is a primary concern.

MR. FRANK:  Are you familiar with Union's DSM programs?

MR. RUSSELL:  I am.

MR. FRANK:  And has LDE utilized Union's DSM programs in the past --


MR. RUSSELL:  It has.

MR. FRANK:  Particularly the past three years?

MR. RUSSELL:  It has, yes.

MR. FRANK:  Can you briefly describe the number of programs and the nature of them?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  I can take you through a brief list of them, if that is okay.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.

MR. RUSSELL:  We have -- I was able to determine since 2009, we've undertaken -- or we've received rebates for six individual projects, five of which were directly for London District Energy initiatives and one of which was for an indirect benefit to a customer site, which reduced the amount of steam, thereby reducing the amount of natural gas that we burned to produce the steam.

The first one was connecting -- in 2009 we constructed the co-generation facility.

MR. FRANK:  Sorry to interrupt.  The ones you're going to describe, more particularly, are those the ones outlined in your prefiled evidence?

MR. RUSSELL:  I will include those two, yes.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  The first one was a connection of our -- the exhaust of our generating turbine, which was constructed in 2009, to a pre-existing condensing economizer, which recovered some of the heat energy out of that exhaust.

We then ran -- three of the projects were involved in -- were kind of sub-projects to a major customer connection.  We ran a three-kilometre high pressure steam line to supply St. Joseph Hospital campus with their thermal energy needs.

Within that project, we undertook multiple energy efficiency initiatives, three of which we applied for and received funding through Union's DSM program.

Those include returning the used steam as condensate back to our plant for reuse, increasing the high pressure steam insulation -- the high pressure steam line insulation from a 2-inch nominal thickness to a 4-inch nominal thickness, which increased the efficiency of it.

And, actually, an innovative design in that steam trapping which placed -- or, excuse me, in the steam traps, the -- for the safe operation of any steam line.  Despite increased insulation, there is always going to be some level of heat loss.  Through that heat loss, water collects at the bottom of the pipe, and as steam is moving at a very high velocity, that can become dangerous if the water is not removed from the steam system; thus, the need for steam traps.

The common practice with steam trapping is to discharge those into common storm sewers in the municipal infrastructure, which, if you've been to New York City, you will see this kind of steam escaping on the streets, which is traditionally energy lost, and that is primarily a safety item.

In this case, we invested in a higher quality condensate return line, a stainless steel line, which was able to accept the heat and pressure from those steam traps into it, which then brought that energy back to the plant.

Last year we completed the installation of another condensate return line.  The City of London was excavating a portion of Dundas Street in London, Ontario, which allowed us to install a condensate return system to four of our relatively large customers to bring that energy back to the plant for reuse.

And the final one was a -- again, it was a pass-through to a customer of ours, the London Hospital Linen Service, which is essentially a laundry for southwestern Ontario hospitals.

They had undertaken some energy efficiency measures through purchasing new equipment, and they received funding via us for that.

MR. FRANK:  At whose initiative were the programs that you just described?

MR. RUSSELL:  With the exception of the London Hospital Linen Service, the London District Energy initiatives were our own initiatives.

MR. FRANK:  And when you say your own, what involvement, if any, did Union have in the development or planning of those initiatives?

MR. RUSSELL:  Union Gas had no design input into the systems.  Their role was merely administrative by way of processing the application forms.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  But in terms of coming up with the idea, developing it, technical resources for implementation, et cetera, was Union involved in that?

MR. RUSSELL:  No, they were not.

MR. FRANK:  And if there hadn't been DSM funding available to LDE for the programs that you just mentioned, what would have happened to them?

MR. RUSSELL:  Specifically with the condensate return project in which I mentioned we connected four customers more recently, that was a project that I managed and pushed forward.  That project would have -- I can state that that project would have gone forward regardless of the funding.

The other -- the condex -- the condensate return, the insulation and the steam traps on St. Joe's Hospital I was not directly involved with, but I did confirm with my vice president of eastern operations, who was involved with those projects, that those initiatives would have gone forward regardless of the funding.

MR. FRANK:  And why is that?

MR. RUSSELL:  Primarily because London District Energy requires energy efficiency as a key component to its success.

I mean, we are an energy conversion company.  Our number one cost is the fuel, the natural gas, and reducing that contributes to our economic sustainability.

MR. FRANK:  What --


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Frank, I am getting a little conscious of the time.  There was evidence filed by both the witnesses, and I think a lot of this was covered in the evidence.  So if you could, please, move it along?

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  Just very briefly, what is LDE's current position on DSM programs?

MR. RUSSELL:  London District Energy would support an opt-out program.

MR. FRANK:  Can you just advise why?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  Briefly, London District Energy undertakes efficiency projects on an ongoing continuous basis.

We feel that we have the internal expertise to undertake those energy efficiency measures, and we also feel we can do it in a very cost-effective manner, more cost-effective than through the program.

MR. FRANK:  Mr. Zarumba was mentioning earlier some reasons why sequencing of a program might be impacted by operational issues.  Can you give any examples of that?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  Specifically, recently, as recently as last Friday, we -- London District Energy staff observed a significant steam leak emanating from our distribution line related to a leaking safety relief valve, which is there to relieve pressure if the pressure gets too high for safety purposes.

That was identified, and despite our intentions to rectify that as soon as possible - in a perfect world we would have shut the system down then and there to effect the repair, because essentially we see steam and energy dollars just puffing out into the air - we were forced to wait.

It was about minus 15 or 16, I believe, in London on that weekend, and we had customers connected to that, four customers connected to that pipe, who could not see their thermal load, their thermal supply go down.

So we made the decision -- we were looking forward at the weather.  The Monday and Tuesday of this previous week was warmer, and so we were able to effect the repair then.

MR. FRANK:  Yesterday, put into evidence was a letter, and I'm just trying to get the exhibit number.  It was a letter from Veresen to the Board.

MR. SMITH:  I believe it was K1.2.

MR. FRANK:  Do you have a copy of a letter dated October 11, 2011, Mr. Russell, from Veresen to the Board?

MR. RUSSELL:  I don't believe I do.

MR. WOLNIK:  Here.

MR. RUSSELL:  Thanks, John.  Oh, yes, thank you.

MR. FRANK:  Now, I understood you to say earlier that LDE is of the view that opt-out should be available?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  And can you please explain why LDE's views are like that today, notwithstanding what was in the letter of October 2011?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  I think it can be most simply put as London District Energy was not fully aware of the full cost of the incentive payments in the various accounts and as they would be impacting our operating budgets.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  And do you know anything about the circumstances under which the letter was written?

MR. RUSSELL:  From what I understand from my colleagues at Veresen, that letter was written at the request of Union.

MR. FRANK:  That completes my examination-in-chief.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  As far as the order of cross-examination, I know that Union has asked to go last.  So unless there are any objections, I see Mr. Wanless reaching for his button.  Go ahead, Mr. Wanless.

MR. WANLESS:  Yes, thank you.  I have canvassed with my colleagues, and it's agreed, subject to your thoughts, that I would perhaps go first.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay.

MS. CONBOY:  Sounds good.  Kick it off.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wanless:

MR. WANLESS:  Good morning, Mr. Zarumba.  I have a few questions for you.

We've been over some of this territory already, so I won't belabour the point, but according to your CV, you have 28 years' experience in domestic and international energy market?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And included in that, you have experience regarding the design, implementation and evaluation of DSM programs?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I thought we clarified that, is that I actually haven't done hands-on design.

I have been involved in several other aspects, generally with the regulatory and also involved somewhat in evaluation.

MR. WANLESS:  And we are also aware, briefly, that you have experience with US industrial DSM programs; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  Are you familiar with the cost-effective of OPA's industrial CDM programs?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Not their industrial programs.  My clients are electric generators.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay.  I have some questions about the survey that your company was involved in creating and sending out.  And just so there is a bit of rigour to it, I am going to ask some questions about who it was sent to and who responded and why.

I believe yesterday it was referred to as a sample; is that fair?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.  It is a census, not a sample.  A census is 100 percent of the population.  A sample, you are picking some portion, 10 percent, 15 percent, et cetera.

MR. WANLESS:  So the -- and that is regardless of how many responses you get back?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Well, you send it out to everybody.  We did not get 100 percent response rate, if that is the question you are -- we are working towards?

MR. WANLESS:  Yes.  Yeah.  No, my understanding is that I suppose a census would have, a full census would have everybody responding, and in this case not everyone responded.

MR. ZARUMBA:  You would hope everybody responds, but no census uses 100 percent.

MR. WANLESS:  And it was sent out to 32 individuals; is that fair?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I believe that is correct, yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And you've described those as all APPrO members; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And can you describe in a general way who these 32 are?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It was sent to plant managers, management of the companies, et cetera.  APPrO provided us with the contact list.

MR. WANLESS:  And I understand not all of these were Union customers; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. WANLESS:  Do you know why the decision was made to send it to non-Union members?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We wanted to have a complete survey.

We have parsed the responses into the total population and then Union-only, and the statistics which I referenced earlier applied only to Union customers.

MR. WANLESS:  And can you state how many Union customers received the survey?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I would have to get back to you on that.  I don't have that number available to me right at the moment.

MR. WANLESS:  So you're not aware at this time how many Union customers received the survey or how many responded?

I would have thought that that would be key to understanding this survey and its usefulness for the Board.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I don't believe I have the number at my fingertips.  I know I had that number when I was reviewing everything, but...

MR. WANLESS:  I guess my concern is, in order to understand what this survey means, we need to know what's behind the numbers.  We need to know how many -- this proceeding is specifically about Union Gas, so we need to know how many customers of Union Gas received the survey, how many responded, and what their -- and what their responses were; would you not agree?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  The response rate was, I believe, in the 60 percent range.

MR. WANLESS:  That is for Union Gas, as well?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That was for Union Gas.  As I said, I can get that back to you specifically.  I don't believe I have that number at my fingertips at the moment.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay.  Well, I will be asking a few questions, and -- which you may have to get back to me on, but we will take it one question at a time.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Wanless.  Would you like that by way of undertaking?

MR. WANLESS:  I would, yes.  Sorry, I should do  that --


MS. CONBOY:  I think that would be useful, as well.

I did hear you say something about 13 customers in your opening statement; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Fifteen.

MS. CONBOY:  Maybe we can move on, but I would like that number, as well, as an undertaking.  So perhaps, Mr. Wanless, you could articulate exactly what you're after and we can give it an undertaking number.

MR. WANLESS:  Sure.  First, I would like an undertaking for you to provide how many Union customers received the survey.  And I would also like information on what -- actually, maybe I can ask this as a general question.  Everyone who received the survey, were they Rate T2 and Rate 100 customers?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I believe the T2 is the large-use rate that the generators that are served under, but yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And would there be anyone else who is not in those two categories, Tate T2 or Rate 100, who received the survey?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I do not believe so.  I believe that -- generators that would be -- would not be in that category would be things that were smaller, such as a hospital co-gen unit and such.

MR. WANLESS:  Well, I would like an undertaking, first, whether there is anyone who received the survey who is not Rate T2 or Rate 100.  And then I would like the numbers behind that.

MR. MILLAR:  So I believe the first undertaking was the number of Union customers who received the survey, and would that include -- you would also like the number that responded to the survey?

MR. WANLESS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  to PROVIDE NUMBER OF UNION GAS CUSTOMERS WHO RECEIVED THE SURVEY, AND THE NUMBER THAT RESPONDED.

MR. MILLAR:  Then a second undertaking is:  Were there any customers who responded who were not in the two rates subject to this proceeding, rate --


MR. WANLESS:  And additionally, the number --


MR. FRANK:  Sorry to interrupt.  Just -- and perhaps this might be of assistance to everyone.

We should keep in mind the timing of the creation of the T2 class.  So to be fair, the question should probably relate to the relevant time when there was just Rate T1 and Rate 100 customers.

So we might need to be a little more precise with the question so that it is answered properly.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. FRANK:  I think we all understand the nature of the question, and I am not trying to be difficult.  I am trying to assist here.

I think the question is --


MR. WANLESS:  Well, maybe we can ask this in a more general way.

At the moment, I am just having trouble understanding the survey because I don't know who was asked what, and how that impacts this particular hearing.

So it would be good if we could get general information on how many -- on Union-specific and rate categories and sort of the number breakdown of who received the survey, how many people responded, and what their responses were.

MR. FRANK:  Fair enough.  And all of these are clearly relevant questions.  I do note, of course, there was an interrogatory process.  We will -- absolutely no issue with responding to these questions.  I am not sure where we're going beyond this, though.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  I am wondering about the timing, as well, on getting those numbers.

Do you see a problem getting those?

MR. FRANK:  Mr. Zarumba would have to ask, but I would imagine they could be obtained today.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  That would be great.

MR. FRANK:  It is just a matter of confirming a few numbers.

MS. CONBOY:  And, Mr. Wanless, you are able to proceed without those numbers?  With that caveat?

MR. WANLESS:  Well, I am not sure that I have another option.

If it's possible to get those numbers sooner rather than later, I don't want to delay the proceedings, but if we could get them in --


MS. CONBOY:  I guess the option is that we move to Mr. Poch.

MR. WANLESS:  Mm-hmm.

MS. CONBOY:  And then give APPrO an opportunity to get you those numbers.  If they're able to get them sooner than later, then you can continue with the cross.

MR. WANLESS:  That actually would be good.  I will jump over the questions that I had and move on to a separate topic.

MS. CONBOY:  Or we just move to Mr. Poch and you do your cross-examination after the break.

MR. WANLESS:  A moment's indulgence.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. WANLESS:  That would be fine to move on to Mr. Poch at this time.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Just to assist my friends and speed that process, I do notice in appendix A to D5, at page 1, this is the survey results revised, Union customers only.  Part of the question is answered where it is indicated that there were 13 responses received from 11 unique companies served by Union.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  That doesn't say anything about who it was sent to, of course.  Excuse me.

First of all, a few questions just arising out of your chief this morning.  Mr. Zarumba, in your question regarding how many customers would have done projects without Union's incentives, I take it you didn't ask how many -- did you ask how many would do it without -- have done it without the tech support?  Was that a question?  I don't recall.

MR. ZARUMBA:  We did ask whether they utilized tech support.  In terms of did we ask them would they have done it without the tech support, no.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And you understand that the way Union has structured its program, a lot of its effort is in the tech support side as opposed to the capital incentive side?

MR. ZARUMBA:  If you say so, yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.  Now, you said 62 percent said they wouldn't have -- they would have proceeded within -- rather, would not proceed -- I can't remember.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Do you want me to refresh your memory on that?

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. ZARUMBA:  It's question 6:
"If incentives from Union Gas were used to contribute to project costs, please indicate whether this investment would have been made within three years if these incentives had not been available."


Sixty-two percent said yes, 38 percent no.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Then you went on to say -- about the 38 percent, you went on to talk about why that might not be an indication of how many projects Union actually supported.  And you talked about the plant might be closing, whatever.

I take it you didn't investigate that, did you?  That is just speculation on your part?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is speculation, and if --


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  In questions 10 and 11 -- in fact, sorry, in question 12, I believe it is, you said:
"If provided with a 'self-direct' option, would you choose to do so?"

That's the one where you got an 85 percent no response.  Then you went on in that question to describe a self-direct arrangement as one where:
"... your firm would not contribute towards the cost of DSM programs offered by Union but would be required to invest an equivalent amount in energy efficiency investments..."


Do you understand that is not what Union is proposing as its self-direct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  The timing, I might -- I would have to check on the timing of this, but the question stands, that this is the question that we asked.

MR. POCH:  I understand that.  Do you understand and did -- do you understand that is not what Union is proposing?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  If your question had said:  If provided by a self-direct option, which was a use-it-or-lose-it option - in other words, you're going to pay the DSM and if you do some qualifying project, you're going to get a contribution from Union and, if you don't, well, you've paid your rates and one of your competitors might get that money - do you think the response would have been different?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It would probably have been different.  The issue becomes:  Would that type of program be efficient?

MR. POCH:  I understand.  I'm just asking the question whether the response would be different.  I think we can -- can we agree the response would be dramatically different?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Well, essentially, you're either going to use it to make investments or you're going to pay a tax.

MR. POCH:  Right.  So I take it that you are agreeing with me?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, you commented on the question of lost opportunities that Ms. Lynch had spoken to, and I'm a little concerned that you took that out of context.

Can we agree that for the very reasons you spoke of, that major projects only happen at certain times, maintenance only happens at certain times because of equipment turnover, because of the vicissitudes of running a plant in the real world, if we don't seize opportunities to inject efficiency when those opportunities arise, that is what creates the lost opportunity, that then, you know, the valve has been replaced and you're not going to replace it again the next year, kind of thing?

Would you agree with that logic?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I am not quite sure I understand your question.  Can you please state it a little differently?

MR. POCH:  That in the real world, companies have capital stock turnover occasions.  They have maintenance schedules, as you have said, minor ones, major ones, and that an effective DSM program is one that tries to intervene on a timely basis, timely in light of what the customer's activities are, because if you miss the window of opportunity like that, you might have missed the opportunity for efficiency for many years until that capital item gets changed over again or gets maintained again, what have you?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That I would agree with.

MR. POCH:  All right.  That being so, I think you have already agreed that if we're going to do a DSM, it should be done in a way that is timely, but would you agree that if we're going to have a -- for example, a program such as Union's, say a direct-access program where you are told part of your rate contribution for DSM is going to be available to you to do efficiency and it's use or lose it, that it would be important to accommodate those kind of maintenance schedules, and what have you, in a company; that is, give the company flexibility so it is not put in that position of, you know, shutting down a steam plant on the coldest day in winter?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is true.

MR. POCH:  So a multi-year approach where the customer has more flexibility would be more likely to allow effective participation by a customer than a constrained, say, one-year approach?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  Any time a constraint is entered into any type of optimization, whether it be financial, engineering, you will never get a better outcome.  You will, at best, get an equal outcome.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Russell, I had a couple of questions arising out of your chief this morning for you, as well.

I noticed from your CV you started at LDE in 2011.  I am just wondering.  Was that before or after October 11th when the letter K1.2 was issued?

MR. RUSSELL:  It was before.

MR. POCH:  When was it?

MR. RUSSELL:  April 2011.

MR. POCH:  April.  Thank you.

And you made some wording changes to two interrogatories, D5, 33 and 34.

MR. RUSSELL:  Mm-hm.

MR. POCH:  And I'm just trying to understand what the distinction that you were trying to make with that wording change is.  I'm sorry, it is Interrogatory No. 33 and 34.  The page numbers were different depending which version we have.

It's D5, interrogatory 33 and D5, interrogatory 34.  So let's just take them one at a time.

We asked if you agreed whether there can be gas system benefits accruing to a participant beyond those accruing to a participant to DSM.

We will come back to this, but you saying of your own volition you funded significant energy measures.  Consequently, LDE does not expect to see changes to system benefits under an opt-out program?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So I think I understand -- do I understand you correctly you're simply saying you're going to do the same with an opt-out program as you do with a DSM program in place?

MR. RUSSELL:  Our experience to date is that, yes, we would.

MR. POCH:  I take it it is the same notion in the change to the next question?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  We will come back to that in a minute.  Were you a respondent to the survey that Navigant conducted?

MR. RUSSELL:  I was personally not, no, and I do not believe Veresen was.

MR. POCH:  Fascinating.  Okay.  And... All right, thank you.

Mr. Russell, can you state unequivocally that any energy efficiency opportunity in your plant that has less than a, say, 10-year payback has been pursued by your organization and will be in future?

MR. RUSSELL:  I could not state unequivocally that any and all have been identified.  It's an ongoing process of evaluating --


MR. POCH:  If I asked that question, say, an eight-year payback or six-year payback, would your answer be any different?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.

MR. POCH:  Have you done a formal study or had -- of energy efficiency options at different -- with different paybacks?  Or is this just something you do on a kind of an ad hoc basis?

MR. RUSSELL:  It's on a continuous, ongoing basis.  We have not undertaken a formal energy audit.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And nor have you had an independent audit, I take it?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.

MR. POCH:  It goes without saying.

Do you have a copy of the GEC cross-reference materials that were handed out yesterday, Exhibit K1.4?

I think we have one extra here.  I will hand it up to the witness panel.  Oh, do you have it?

[Mr. Wolnik passes document to Mr. Russell]


MR. RUSSELL:  Thank you, John.

MR. POCH:  If you turn to page 21 of those materials...

MR. RUSSELL:  The handwritten numbers at the top?

MR. POCH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  Okay.  Yes, I'm there.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I just see your counsel scrambling.  I want to make sure he has had an opportunity to get this, too.

Okay.  At page 21, you can see we have marked a section.  This is -- this is an extract from the ACEEE paper that Mr. Neme provided in answer to an interrogatory he had referenced, Ms. Chittum's paper that -- I think he described her as the leading analyst of opt-out and self-direct programs.

There, she notes that in Utah, Wyoming and Oregon, customers can opt out of all or part of their CRM fees -- and CRM fees is the acronym they're using there for DSM rates, if you will -- if they can provide -- prove they have, in fact, done all cost-effective energy efficiency.

And in the case of Utah and Wyoming, cost-effective means that a project has a simple payback of eight years or less, and Oregon is 10 years.

To date no company has taken advantage of these exemptions in any of these states, because there are always some cost-effective projects that could be identified during an energy audit.

If that option was given to your company, would such an opt-out option work for your company?

MR. RUSSELL:  It tends to simplify, oversimplify energy efficiency projects and -- for the option of opting out, in my opinion.

Oftentimes, energy efficiency projects come with other criteria that we evaluate against them, including whether or not the project adds flexibility to our system or for our customers, if it adds reliability to our system and our delivery of thermal energy to our customers, if we see any future growth potential out of that installation or equipment or efficiency, as well as the economics and the actual payback.

MR. POCH:  So let me just understand.  There might be projects with even longer paybacks that you would want to do for other reasons, for reliability and what have you?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, definitely.

MR. POCH:  Then this less restrictive approach, just that, at least economically, the payback, if that was a condition and that you had to demonstrate that, would that kind of program work for you?

MR. RUSSELL:  I'm also -- I'm thinking of examples as where that would become challenging for us, if we were to commit to such a -- the condensate line that I mentioned previously, where we connected four customers to -- I guess where I'm going with this is that these projects are very dynamic in nature and are not always readily captured by an energy audit per se, done at a specific time.

That condensate project --


MR. POCH:  Hang on.  Let me interrupt you, because I think you made that point already that there may be projects that wouldn't show up in such a scan, but I am wondering if you could answer my question.

MR. RUSSELL:  I guess I am getting to another point on that.

MR. POCH:  Go ahead.  Sorry I interrupted you.

MR. RUSSELL:  That condensate line was done due to an outside factor, in that the city decided to excavate the road and allowed us to do that for a more cost-effective manner, bringing the project into a more reasonable payback period for us.

We also are looking at expanding on that system.

The city, because of their knowledge of our desire to pursue energy efficiency projects, regularly we stay in contact and they have advised us just recently -- they invited me to a meeting in which we will be discussing a section of that road that will be excavated further to the west, in which we will be, then, exploring the energy efficiency opportunity there.

MR. POCH:  I think we covered that in your first answer.  There may be some projects in that case --


MR. RUSSELL:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  It wouldn't have been cost-effective if you had to pay to dig up the road, and --


MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, of course.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I'm just wondering if you could live with a program that said you have to demonstrate that you're doing everything that is cost-effective with a less than 10-year payback period.  You would have to have an external auditor come in and do such an analysis for you.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  I mean, I'm not in a position to comment on the eight-year or 10-year, but I have been involved in energy efficiency audits in the past and generally do support them, so...

MR. POCH:  I'm not sure if you have answered my question.  I am wondering if that kind of a program architecture would work for you.

MR. RUSSELL:  If implemented effectively and correctly.

I've had challenges with energy audits previously, as well, whereby they catch items that operationally don't work or similar -- I mean, in theory in a perfect world, yes, but very rarely have I encountered energy audits in those types of processes to be --


MR. POCH:  So if this Board said it's going to be opt-out with that condition, companies that want to opt out have to provide these external studies, would you find opt-out appealing in that situation if you had to do such a study, or not?  That was my question.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  I mean --


MR. POCH:  Given your concerns about these studies?

MR. RUSSELL:  I do have concerns.  Before I acknowledge that I would be willing to look at that, I would have to see the details of that, but...

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I apologize.  I should have done this earlier.  Counsel for LIEN asked me to cover off one item with you.

In one of your responses -- it is actually for you, Mr. Zarumba.  Well, no, it will be for you, Mr. Russell, I think, because I'm going to ask you to speak for APPrO.

And I'm not sure if you can, but Navigant said it's Navigant's understanding that APPrO has no opposition to the proposal that large-volume industrial customers still contribute towards the low-income program.

And I just want to know if we could get a confirmation that that is, in fact, APPrO's position, not just Navigant's understanding.

MR. FRANK:  Madam Chair, I can answer the question.  The answer is yes.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is helpful.

If you got opt-out as you're requesting, Mr. Russell, I take it there is no guarantee that any rate reduction you received would be automatically earmarked for energy efficiency.

MR. RUSSELL:  I believe by the mechanism that the opt-out program -- there would be no guarantee, no.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And your chief financial officer or your chief operating officer is going to, when you go to him with proposals for investment, I take it he is going to look at those and he's going to compare them to other opportunities the company has for investment or leaving the money with its shareholders or making more profit, be it --they might want to spend more money on marketing.  They might think they're going to get a better return on that than doing some enhancement to a steam loop or something.

I take it that there's going to be an internal competition for funds in whatever internal budgeting process you use?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  At pages 22 and 23 of our materials, where we asked you what your payback period you utilize is, what your economic tests you utilize, and tests other than economic tests you utilize in your energy efficiency tests -- investment choices inside the company, you referred us to an Environmental Defence response, which is at page 23.

You didn't provide what those tests are.  I think if I can paraphrase, and correct me if I'm wrong, you said it varies; it depends on the particular circumstance.  Is that right?

MR. RUSSELL:  That is correct.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And you say that the economic test, though, would be the same in an opt-out situation or with a DSM program in place -- utility program in place; correct?

MR. RUSSELL:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  I take it that the economics of your choice might change.  The tests might be the same, but the economics might change, in that in one case money is being made available for a project, use it or lose it, and in the other case --


MR. RUSSELL:  Well, actually, during the development and approval process for these, due to the kind of -- the difficult timing associated with receiving the funding and, to be frank, due to the unknown amount of funding, we've not really actually been able to include that in the economic test criteria.

MR. POCH:  In the proposal that Union has now, which is this use-it-or-lose-it -- you know, it's going to be pretty rigorous approach.  You will have to do a plan by a certain date.  You have to spend the money in the next quarter, what have you.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I assume it is going to address that concern.  In that situation, I take it the availability of the DSM program, on the one hand, versus you simply having lower rates on the other, is going to -- it won't change your economic tests and all these other factors you have to consider, you know, is the road being torn up, anyway, what have you.

But it would change the economics of the decision.  It may not change your decision.  It may not be sufficient to change what your decision is in any case.  In fact, I think that is your evidence.

But you would agree with me it would change the economics, the --


MR. RUSSELL:  Well, again --


MR. POCH:  -- pluses and minuses?

MR. RUSSELL:  From what I understand, and I may be mistaken here, but that is a use-it-or-lose-it on a company basis so related to the funding that we are putting in.

I do not believe that that defines at the outset the value of funding that we would receive for a specific project upfront, which is what I am referring to as being challenging, we can't include as the economic test.

Furthermore, on a use-it-or-lose-it --


MR. POCH:  Let me just understand your point before you go on.  Please make a note to go on.

MR. RUSSELL:  Sure.

MR. POCH:  I don't really understand what you just said.

Are you saying that -- how would the use-it-or-lose-it approach not change the economics of a decision on a particular project?

MR. RUSSELL:  Again, from what I understand, and please correct me if I am wrong here, but the use-it-or-lose-it approach applies to a factor of funding that we're -- or payments that we're contributing to Union, and then relates to the amount of eligible -- or amount of funding available to us on a whole for the year.  Am I correct in that?

MR. POCH:  Well, for whatever plan and projects that you file with Union and demonstrate to them are appropriate that's DSM.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  So I am also assuming that in our previous experience, when we're applying for these, the value of the specific project funding is not known during the -- even at the approval stage.

We found in our experience that we're not paid out until the project is complete.

MR. POCH:  Let's just assume that when Union accepts your plan and says, Okay, you can have your allocated funding, they say based on the fact that you will do this project A, B and C as part of this effort at this level of investment on your part and so on.

They're not going to -- that's the whole point of the plan.  I'm assuming --


MR. RUSSELL:  Yeah, yeah, I see what you're saying.  But I guess I'm getting into the specific.

We do approvals of capital projects, energy efficiency projects and other projects on a project-by-project basis, on a program basis.

I guess I just don't see where that gives us any more confidence in the level of funding that we receive in order to allow that to be entered into our economic test.

MR. POCH:  So you think if Union says, on August 1st, We approve your plan, here's the amount of money, that's not good enough?  You can't rely on that?

MR. RUSSELL:  Well, is that a -- that's on an overall plan for the year, correct, not on a program by program -- I guess I should maybe --


MR. POCH:  A plan for the next three months, I think is the way it works, or four months.

MR. RUSSELL:  I guess I don't maybe have a thorough enough understanding of how that looks.  But if I could also just comment back to the --


MR. POCH:  Go ahead, and then we will come back.

MR. RUSSELL:  The nature of our business, as well, often these efficiency measures, specifically the ones that I have listed, are significant.  They're parts of significant investments that occur not every three months, not annually, but on a much longer-term basis.

Some projects -- the connection to the hospital is ten years in the making before we were able to undertake that project.

And so on a use-it-or-lose-it basis, we may have -- and the dates associated with those incentive fundings, a lot of them came to fruition in 2011 just as kind of a lot of projects coming to a head.

So on an annual basis, that use-it-or-lose-it I would see as a negative.

MR. POCH:  I guess that harkens back to my conversation earlier with Mr. Zarumba that a longer window would encompass more projects.  If the window is too short, it simply doesn't fit with your internal planning processes?

MR. RUSSELL:  Longer is more flexible.

MR. POCH:  Yes, okay.  I guess I just want to circle back, then, to your first point.  I still don't quite have it.

If you were assured -- if you were assured that the funding really is use-it-or-lose-it for a project, you have an assurance if you do this project you will get this funding from the utility, and if you don't do it, you're not going to get this funding, and you know -- and you know -- let's treat all of that that Union's administering it for its program reasonably well going forward.

I hear you have some concerns with how they have administered it in the past, but they're talking about a new program now.  Assuming they hear you and they respond well to that and they structure the program well so they give companies like yours the assurances it needs, can we agree in that situation, obviously, that the availability of that money changes the economics of -- it may not change your economic test.  It may not change the outcome for any given project you're considering if it is not enough money, or what have you, but it would change the economic -- the inputs to the economic test?

MR. RUSSELL:  If I was provided a guaranteed level of funding, it would have to change, yes.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Now, you didn't tell us what your payback period is.  I think I paraphrased you earlier, and you agreed it depends on the particular project.  Obviously you have already indicated some projects you're going to do with a very long payback because they have other benefits.

But is there a -- for a straight-up optional energy efficiency program, stand-alone energy efficiency improvements, straight up, it is optional, do you have any -- these days, what is your CFO telling you?  What is your payback period or internal rate of return?  Do you have such criteria?

MR. FRANK:  Madam Chair, I am going to unfortunately interrupt here.  I am concerned that we get into particulars that are confidential or business sensitive as opposed to speaking at a generic level, which I would suggest is sufficient to assist the Board and answer my friend's questions appropriately, that we get into particular issues that are sensitive from any company's perspective as to the exact mechanisms they put in place.

And I do appreciate the need to get some level of granularity here, but the degree to which -- the exact formula criteria, I'm not sure that's appropriate as much as -- and I think the witness already has laid out the general criteria, and I would suggest it is appropriate that we stay at that level.

MR. POCH:  Let me try the question in another way, Madam Chair, before we maybe need a ruling.

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Yesterday I asked Union's panel to contrast, and I asked them to contrast the payback period that they find for some DSM measures that are eligible for past screening for their programs, versus the payback periods that industry usually uses.

They said there is quite a difference between those different paybacks.

Does that conform to your experience?

MR. RUSSELL:  I'm sorry, just repeat that?

MR. POCH:  Industry generally requires a pretty short payback period, unless there is other good business reasons to do something, compared to the life of measure payback that a utility is prepared to accept to pass the TRC test.


MR. RUSSELL:  I'm not familiar with the specifics of the TRC test, but the short-term payback, in my experience in both the City of London and with this current role at London District Energy, is not that it is necessarily a short-term payback period we look for.

MR. POCH:  What would you define as -- can you give me a sense, a range?  I hear your counsel doesn't want you to give specifics away here, but are you comfortable giving some kind of a range?

MR. FRANK:  I'm not sure what you mean, Mr. Poch, by short term, even by the question.  So...

MR. POCH:  How many years do you need to pay back a stand-alone efficiency optional efficiency measure?  How many years does it have to pay back within?

MR. RUSSELL:  That would change on a day-to-day basis, project-related basis, the cost of money at the time.  It depends where -- there are so many factors that go into that.

It is not like a -- I see where you're going with this.  It's like a lot of automotive plants will says:  We don't do this unless it is a one-year payback.

It is not that simple a question.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. RUSSELL:  I apologize.  I'm just...

MR. POCH:  No.  If you can't answer it, you can't answer it.

I take the gist of your evidence, in the case of your particular plant -- first of all, I take it you can't speak to other large industrial customers as a group?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.

MR. POCH:  I take it you didn't do any kind of a survey of other electric generators; you are just speaking for LDE?

MR. RUSSELL:  I am speaking for LDE.

MR. POCH:  And your experience at your plant, and I think your CV indicates you have been there a little over a year and your work at City of London did not involve gas-fired electric generation, per se?

MR. RUSSELL:  Not specifically the operation.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So just speaking for LDE, your position is that, I take it, is that you don't see that there are any projects, energy efficiency projects kind of on the margin that would be affected by the availability of DSM funding or not?

MR. RUSSELL:  Not at this time, no.

MR. POCH:  And you haven't experienced that -- you don't see there's been any in the past?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.  And I reviewed the economics of those.  They all -- the projects are often relatively high capital value, and the efficiency funding has caps.

MR. POCH:  And you don't foresee any in the future?

MR. RUSSELL:  Not at this time.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can I just circle back, then, to the letter from your vice president?  Why would your vice president have said these things?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yeah.

MR. POCH:  The programs are helpful.

MR. RUSSELL:  I wasn't directly involved with the creation of that letter.

Again, I am speaking directly about London District Energy, not Veresen as a whole.

MR. POCH:  Well, this letter was produced yesterday.  I'm sure it didn't go unnoticed by you and your counsel.

Did you not inquire of this person overnight?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.  I did not have a chance to connect.

MR. POCH:  Excuse me.  I'm just going to whittle away a few questions here.

MS. CONBOY:  Sounds good.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I am going to turn to you, Mr. Zarumba.

At page 26 of our materials, you were asked in that interrogatory whether, if opt-out was granted, there would be more or less or the same level of investment in efficiency, whether there would be more or less cubic metres saved.

And the answer there is you don't -- you don't have -- you can't say from your survey results; correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Right.  Yes.

MR. POCH:  That's the survey that APPrO asked you to do?  You would have sat down with your client and discussed what they want inquired into; correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  What APPrO gave us provided us with a scope of work, or we developed a scope of work with APPrO.

We did not -- and I want to get this on the record -- we're not looking for specific answers or bogeys.

MR. POCH:  What do you mean?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We were not looking to -- working from an answer, you know, back to the survey.

MR. POCH:  Oh, I understand.  Okay.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I just want to clarify that.

MR. POCH:  But you would have discussed what questions you are going to ask with your client before going out to the --


MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  -- constituency?

And I would assume that, given APPrO's position, if they would have wanted to buttress their position in this case -- but they didn't instruct you or didn't ask you to ask that question, to ask would opt-out increase or decrease the level of energy efficiency investments, I take it; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Are you saying:  Did they tell us to ask that question or not ask that question?

MR. POCH:  Right.  Did they -- yes.

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.  They didn't tell us to ask or not ask that question.

We developed -- Navigant is an independent organization.  We exist because of our reputation and the fact that we are here for the long term.

MR. POCH:  I wasn't trying to impugn your --


MR. ZARUMBA:  Our reputation is very important.

MR. POCH:  I wasn't trying to impugn your reputation there, sir.

What I'm really asking is:  You would have gone back with your proposed questions to APPrO and said:  Does this satisfy your needs if we get the answers to the questions?

I take it they indicated yes?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We did review the survey with the client, yes.

MR. POCH:  Did questions change as a result of that discussion?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Very minor changes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  So at that time, they didn't say:  We would like to find out if there would be more or less efficiency with an opt-out?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That was not a question that was asked, no.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.

Have you personally, or has Mr. Williams, ever analyzed energy efficiency options in gas-fired electric generating facilities of the vintages we have in Ontario?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I just want to clarify that question before I answer it.

When you say that we have analyzed efficiencies, did we take a look at the outputs and compare them to peers, are we --


MR. POCH:  No, not efficiency of the plant.  I am asking if you analyzed energy efficiency opportunities in plants, in gas-fired electric generating facilities of the vintages we have in Ontario.  Have you ever done a study of that particular issue?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I have not, but I believe Mr. Williams may have.  But I -- I couldn't quote a specific study.

Mr. Williams has been here in Ontario for over a decade, has done a number of projects.

MR. POCH:  Can we get an undertaking to get an answer to that question?

MS. CONBOY:  Do you have an objection to that, Mr. Smith?  Mr. Frank, sorry.

MR. FRANK:  I am having a little bit of trouble understanding the relevance, and I am also wondering how that relates to cross-examination as opposed to whether it would have been an appropriate interrogatory.

So I am troubled on both those levels.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  We received an interrogatory answer from Navigant, or somebody did, where they went on to volunteer that they wouldn't expect there would be a lot of opportunities.

I'm wondering what the basis for that is, if they actually have looked at this, done any kind of rigorous study of these plants, the opportunities in these plants.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Now, if you would like me to address the issue --


MR. POCH:  No.  I would like to deal with this question of an interrogatory -- of an undertaking response first, if you don't mind.

MR. FRANK:  Well I think the appropriate question is the one you just asked, which is you said there's an answer and you want to know the basis for it.

If that's the question, then I think that is an appropriate cross-examination question.  I don't think the prior question or request for an undertaking is appropriate.

MR. POCH:  I think I'm entitled to define my -- I am entitled to define my question.

I want to know if these gentlemen who have offered this opinion have an actual study that they're relying on, or if they're just basing this on what we have already heard, that a great proportion of the gas gets put into a turbine.

MS. CONBOY:  How is that different than following up on the interrogatory answer that was given there?

MR. POCH:  The let me try that first --


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  -- Madam Chair.

Is the basis for that answer as I have surmised, that -- the one you gave earlier, that 98 percent of the gas in these plants goes through an electric turbine?

MR. ZARUMBA:  The basis of --


MR. POCH:  The answer you gave in-chief.

MR. ZARUMBA:  The basis of that answer and my opinion is that merchant generation such as exists in Ontario is subject to very significant competitive advantages, and they are forced to be as competitive as they can because that contributes directly to the bottom line.

Much of the gas-fired generation is of a newer vintage, you know, in which case you use basically just a little bit of nibbling on the edges in terms of what can be done with heat rate, the way -- our understanding of the operation of this, of these types of technologies.

And that is something that Navigant is actually very active in.  We actually have an entire group that's -- they essentially do benchmarking of electric generation.

MR. POCH:  Let me just understand.  Any large industrial customer that operates in a competitive environment has bottom line cost pressures, right?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I would say that I am not going to draw -- accept the premise that industrial customers and electric generators are operating in the same way in the same market.

They are two different types of customers.  They operate differently.

And frankly, industrial could mean, at one end of the spectrum, you may have Intel building microcircuits somewhere, you know, or you could you have a foundry that is three months away from shutting down.

That is a very wide population.

But I don't think electric generator and industrials are in the same category.  I can't accept that premise.

MR. POCH:  Just because of the sheer amount of energy they're using?

MR. ZARUMBA:  They operate differently.

MR. POCH:  Every industry operates differently than every other industry, certainly.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Then how could you make a comparison?

MR. POCH:  I am just suggesting to you, sir, that there are any number of studies, I'm sure you agree, that show that large energy-intensive industries have many energy efficient -- there is still much potential for energy efficiency out there.  Do you disagree with that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  You talked about many studies.  I, you know...

MR. POCH:  Are you saying you can't comment on that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Not with a very vague reference, no.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Well, that is sufficient.

By the way, what is your understanding of the vintage of the generating plants in Ontario?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Gas-fired generation, there was several of them entering service in the early to mid 1990s based on contracts with Ontario Hydro.

Since then, there's been several other newer vintage, such as GE 7FA-type technologies.

MR. POCH:  Let's make sure we agree on this.  So there seems to be two vintages.  I think there are four or five mentioned in the evidence that are these CSE plants.  Have I got the acronym right?  CES plants.

They would be in the last five -- about five years ago; is that right?  Then there is this other vintage you're talking about?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Mm-hm.

MR. POCH:  How many plants, in total, are we talking about?

MR. ZARUMBA:  There are several.  I don't have the number available.

MR. POCH:  You don't know how many of these plants are on Union's -- from your -- I guess we will get that answer when we get the interrogatory when you say how many people you sent out your survey to; right?  Fair enough.

MS. CONBOY:  Before you move on, I am looking at the time and I am wondering the best time to break.  How much more time do you estimate you will be, Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  I think I am about another 15 minutes.

MS. CONBOY:  Fifteen?

MR. POCH:  I am guessing.  We seem to be going down some tangents on occasion.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Well, let's take a break for 20 minutes, until 20 to, with the encouragement that we all try and keep moving.

We are hoping to get to argument in-chief this afternoon, so...  Sorry, one more thing.  Mr. Frank, you will try to get Mr. Wanless's answer sooner than later?

MR. FRANK:  Absolutely.  We will see if we can do it during the break.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:20 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:44 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Before we get -- before we continue with Mr. Poch, were those numbers easy enough to get?  Or they're going to take a bit more time?

MR. FRANK:  We have some information, and let me put that out and we will see where things stand with that.

One of the issues is there was no specific question about the rate class within which anyone fell.  So what we can kind of do is a bit of deductive reasoning as to where they sit, in response to that.

So the answer -- and Mr. Zarumba will confirm -- as Mr. Poch suggested, in terms of the number of respondents who were Union respondents, it's from 11 unique companies in the Union franchise comprising 13 plants.

In terms of the number that were part of the census, we don't have that specific number.  We are still trying to look.  We believe it is approximately 19, but we will try and firm that up and get that information when we have it.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Then when we get to Mr. Wanless's cross, we will see if that is sufficient.

MR. FRANK:  And we could say in terms of the rate classes, that either all of those or, at maximum -– sorry, all of them would have fallen in what was the T1 Rate 100 and what is now the T2 Rate 100, except possibly one, and the reason we don't have that answer is we didn't ask the specific respondents.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Poch?

MR. FRANK:  I had one other further preliminary matter, Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  Sorry.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. FRANK:  There is a response, J1.5, in the undertaking responses from Union, and we greatly appreciate the speed with which they provided these.

It inadvertently answered the wrong question, and Union is reviewing, to correct that.  So -- and we appreciate their assistance in getting that done.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Poch, please proceed.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Zarumba, I take it Navigant does evaluation of DSM and CDM programs throughout North America for various utilities and organizations?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Including free rider analysis?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  All right.  If there was a concern that a sizeable subset of customers or a few important large users might be -- there might be a concern that there are very high free riders, would you agree it would be -- an appropriate response for a utility would be to do an evaluation of free ridership and try to analyze the situation, so you can -- if at all possible, you could tweak the program to better target decisions at the margin, and not just be paying for things that are going to happen anyway?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes --


MS. CONBOY:  Microphone, please.

MR. ZARUMBA:  My apologies.  Either tweak the program, redesign it, or possibly eliminate it, yes.

MR. POCH:  And are you aware that Union and Enbridge, cooperating through the technical evaluation committee, are indeed in the midst of looking at the free ridership experience among the large custom project customers across North America at this time?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Are they -- do you mean are they looking at it across North America?  Or looking -- could you -- I don't understand your question.

MR. POCH:  I'm wondering if you're aware that Enbridge and Union, through the technical evaluation committee, are at this time, in fact, at the front end of a project that is going to study free rider information values in various large -- in the custom large project sectors, and they're going to look at other jurisdictions and try to evaluate that very question.

Were you aware of that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I guess I wasn't, but what does surprise me is -- why are they looking at it after they have designed and implemented the program?  That -- to me that is something that I think you should do -- best practices would be that you would do this simultaneously; if not, you might be closing the barn door after the horse has gotten out.

MR. POCH:  Right.  In fact, you would want to do both, if you can?  You would want to do it on an ongoing basis to make sure your program stays relevant?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  In fact, just coincidentally, I think it is Navigant that has the contract for that work.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I am sure --


MR. POCH:  It may yet come across your desk.

MR. ZARUMBA:  No, actually it would not, because that would be a conflict.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, I think this is reproduced in our materials at page 20.  This was this question of the 38 percent -- Question 6.

Basically, it says the -- 38 percent say the project would not have proceeded within three years, but for DSM support; isn't that fair?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Are you referring to page 6 of the report?  Or page 6 of your handout?

MR. POCH:  Page 20 of my handout, Question 6.  I'm just focussing us back on that 62 and 38 percent answer.

Let me restate the question.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Could you repeat the question?

MR. POCH:  In fact, I will restate the question rather than going over the question again.

You have given this answer about Question 6; it speaks for itself.

I am just waning to look at the 62 percent who said yes; they say they would have made the investment without incentives within three years.

I am just wanting -- whether you can agree that some portion of those customers may have accelerated their project by one to three years, and they would still be answering yes.

MR. ZARUMBA:  It is possible, but I have no information that would support that conclusion.

MR. POCH:  These are large gas users, you have indicated.  If you could accelerate an energy efficiency project a couple of years for a large gas user, that could be a significant amount of gas savings, you could say.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Okay.  But going back to some of our earlier discussions, you know, is it possible to accelerate programs, sometimes you can, sometimes you can't.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Maintenance scheduling in power plants is -- you know, is something extremely complex.

MR. POCH:  I understand that.  It might be an annual cycle, for example?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Or a multi-year cycle.

MR. POCH:  Right, and you might be able to jump it up a year or jump it up two years or jump it up three years?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I am not comfortable agreeing with that, because if you are going to overhaul the turbine, are you going to do something that's going to increase the efficiency by a small amount and accelerate a major turbine overhaul?

That probably would not be...

MR. POCH:  It's a pretty extreme example, you will agree?

I'm talking about any number of projects that could be, as we heard, at the steam -- the back-end steam cycle part of the project, changing some valves, what have you.

As you said, you would try to do that when the plant is in a low stage of operation, down for other maintenance, what have you.  That might be cyclical.  It might be annual, as you've spoken of.

It is possible that some of these 62 percent moved a project up that might have happened two years down the road, but they did it during this year's maintenance cycle.

You can't preclude that?  You don't know?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I don't know.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I can't speak to it one way or the other.

MR. POCH:  All right.  At page 29 of our materials, we asked you about reconciling the 86 percent of members that have an energy management program, and -- oh, there's an answer, by the way, Madam Chair.

It says:

"We received responses from 12 of 19 companies we approached."

So there may be the answer to the undertaking my friend seeks.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  I am also going through some of -- I noticed that at the beginning of appendix B, the response is:

"13 responses were received from 11 unique companies served by Union."

And then I have also done a little bit of the math in the yes/no, and come up with 15, number of respondents.

So I think that that is probably part of where Mr. Wanless was going.  I will see if I have any questions after he is through.

MR. POCH:  All right.  That is not why I was turning to this, in fact; it just happened to catch my eye.

MS. CONBOY:  I am glad you noted it.  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  I am just asking about the -- you indicate there that 86 percent of respondents have an energy management program.  And I think you have earlier indicated you got results from 63 percent of the APPrO members you went out to; correct?  Ballpark?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Would you agree that it is most likely that the non-respondents, you would be -- have an over-representation there of companies that don't have an energy management program?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. POCH:  because –- well, let me explain why, my reasoning, and see if you disagree, because in those cases there isn't any obvious person whose job description would make it clear it is their responsibility to respond to an energy management survey.

MR. ZARUMBA:  No, I would not accept that.

MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I -- and my rationale for that is generally, with issues with surveys, with respondents, it is people being busy, getting to the right person, somebody just being out of the office for an extended period of time, just simple communication issues.

To look at something that -- you have a power plant and nobody is responsible for energy management, the core business of the -- of that facility I think would probably be a rather poor assumption.

MR. POCH:  Well, what does it mean, then, that 14 percent don't have an energy management plan?  They don't have a formal plan for energy management?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I think it might have to do more with just how the question was worded, how the person that it was being asked to might have interpreted -- the response, it might have been more of a semantics issue.

I mean, this would be the equivalent of saying that there is a bank and there is nobody at the bank who is in charge of money.

MR. POCH:  Can we agree that the customers that haven't gone that extra step of developing an energy management program, the ones who said, No, we don't have an energy management program, are going to be the ones that have, in general, a less sophisticated approach to energy management?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No, I wouldn't accept that, because I think it -- I think this is a semantic issue.

MR. POCH:  Why would you --


MR. ZARUMBA:  If we would have possibly reworded that and stated something -- you know, who is in charge of optimizing your capital plan?  Who is in charge of ensuring that the plant runs at its highest efficiency?  We might have gotten a completely different response.

MR. POCH:  Why did you ask this question, then?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We basically -- we tried to word it as best we can.  I mean, whenever -- any survey, you could word the question, you know, in a specific way.  We asked it.  Now, as I said, sometimes they could just be interpreted differently depending upon the respondents.

MR. POCH:  Let me just understand.  Your assumption is that 100 percent of these people have an energy management regime in place, whether they call it a plan or not; right?

MR. ZARUMBA:  And if you're defining that energy regime as something that is going to make -- operate the plant, you know, in the most efficient manner, yes.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Why would you ask the question, then?

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Poch, I think he has tried to answer the question.  It may not be to your satisfaction, but I think we could move on, please.

MR. POCH:  All right.  We heard at page 12 of yesterday's transcript, in Union's chief, that they have in the last three years provided incentives for some 60 projects amongst energy generators worth -- $700,000 worth of incentives.

But if you could turn to your appendix A to D5 in table 2, and if you look at the heading, it says, "energy management for the past 3 years".

MR. ZARUMBA:  If you could just hold it?  I'm about five seconds behind you.

MR. POCH:  Yes, no problem.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Appendix A?

MR. POCH:  Yes, page 2, question 3, table 2.  There you report that in three cases -- in the right-hand column.  In three cases, people reported getting incentives from Union Gas in the last three years amongst your respondents.  Obviously that is not the full census group.  Do you see that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Are you talking to the -- you said appendix A, which is a survey form.  Are we talking the results to the survey or the actual design of the survey?

MR. POCH:  Yes.  I am just looking at page 2, which is appendix A to D5, page 2, and there is results there, table 2.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Okay.  Very good.  We're on the same page now.

MR. POCH:  Okay, great.  In the right-hand column, it says, "source of incentives".  Three of your - I think we need to make a distinction here - respondents as opposed to the population you sought to survey --


MR. ZARUMBA:  Mm-hm.

MR. POCH:  -- said they received incentives from Union Gas and that the total of all incentives, it was just over 20 -- was close to $30,000, 29,667; right?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That's I believe -- are you interpreting that that that's the total incentives received?  That is actually -- I believe that is supposed to be the actual incentives per project.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  So it would be -- that's the average incentive per --


MR. ZARUMBA:  That's the average.

MR. POCH:  So the number would be -- perhaps it is 90,000, then, if that is the average, times three; 30 times three.

Whereas, as the transcript reference I gave you a moment ago, Union reports in the last three years to gas electric generators that are its customers, it helped fund 60 projects, spending $700,000 on incentives.

So I am just trying to understand why there is such a disparity between your survey results and the facts as -- taking them on their face from Union.

MR. FRANK:  I don't think that is a fair question, Madam Chair.  The evidence from Union yesterday was that the $700,000 related to a number of projects, and that is not what is in the table here.  That's a misrepresentation, I'm not suggesting intentional, but I don't think it is a fair characterization of the evidence from yesterday.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  Well, we will just -- I will read the transcript.  It says "our records" -- this is line 17, page 12 of yesterday's transcript:
"And our records indicate that over that same time period, we have provided over $700,000 in incentives through our DSM program to APPrO member companies.  And we've executed or worked closely with these companies to put together 60 projects under our DSM program and, again, with incentives totalling over $700,000."

MS. CONBOY:  So are you making a question about the representation of the sample size?

MR. POCH:  I am asking -- I am going to ask -- I haven't even posed my question yet, but I am going to ask for what the possible explanations are for the difference between this table, which seems to report on either 30 or $90,000 worth of incentives received in that same period by the respondents to the survey, and I am assuming the answer is going to be that's the difference between the respondents and the entire population, but I haven't posed or gotten the answer yet.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  And, similarly, that three customers indicated receiving money from Union Gas, and it's not clear if it is three customers or three projects.  So those are my questions, if you can see where I'm going, Mr. Zarumba.  First of all --


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Frank, I think that is a fair question.

MR. FRANK:  Absolutely.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. POCH:  So, first of all, 29,000, you're saying your understanding is that is the average as opposed to the total, so let's call it 90,000.

The difference between the $700,000 and the $90,000, can we attribute that just to the fact that you got response from some 60-odd percent, and just it was the -- either the luck of the draw or the respondents weren't particularly good at answering, or perhaps there was some bias in the survey, but assuming one -- it has to be one of those three?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Well, first of all, I can't speak to the Union numbers, not to say that they aren't accurate.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I think the one point you did not bring up is:  Is this a comparable time period?  Was this a comparable definition of programs?

Looking at this in round numbers, we were talking $1 million of capital investments with roughly a 3 percent incentive.

MR. POCH:  Let me just ask you to focus on my question.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Mm-hm.

MR. POCH:  I hear you are heading off in another direction.  That is why I interrupt.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I apologize.

MR. POCH:  Can we agree, assuming Union's numbers cover the same years, that difference is likely attributable to the fact that your survey, either because the luck of the draw of who didn't answer or there was some systematic bias in the question or just bad answers from those that did respond, that would be really the only explanations, assuming Union's numbers are accurate?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I -- because we did not have 100 percent response rate, that could be part of the answer.  Beyond that, I really can't state.  I can't state why there would be a difference.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Wanless.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I will say at some point I am going to slip away to catch a train, and no disrespect to my friends.  I will read the rest in the transcript.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Poch.  Safe travels.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Wanless:

MR. WANLESS:  I do have some further follow-up questions to the numbers that we received as a result of our undertaking of this morning.

First, I just want to clarify.  In my understanding --


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Wanless.  I am not sure whether we have those numbers.  Which numbers are we talking about?

MR. WANLESS:  Oh, perhaps I don't even have them yet.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. WANLESS:  Do we have an answer to the undertaking?  I understand that it might be provided orally; is that correct?

MR. FRANK:  Yes.

MS. CONBOY:  I think you just....

MR. FRANK:  At the outset, Madam Chair, we provided the information we have been able to obtain to date.  We don't have it in writing.  We could certainly do that over the lunch break, if possible.

And that's the best information we have.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. FRANK:  The only information that was unclear at this time is the exact number of census -- exact number of people the survey -- the census was sent to.

We believe it is in the range of 19.  We do have the number of people who responded, and that's 11 unique companies and 13 plants within the Union franchise.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  So --


MR. FRANK:  That is our information now.

MS. CONBOY:  19, 13 and 11.  Are you --


MS. HARE:  Can I just ask something?

When, for example, Mr. Zarumba, when you used percentages like 15 percent, are you doing that out of 11, or out of 13?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Actually, that -- okay.  What you're talking about is the difference between companies and unique plants.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. ZARUMBA:  We presented the presented the information both ways in interrogatory responses.

Interrogatory Response D5 showed it as unique customers only.

MS. HARE:  So that would be the 11?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Right.  D, appendix B, showed it as unique companies, representing that a company might have -- operate more than one facility.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. FRANK:  Sorry, just for the record, to clarify, there's appendix A to Exhibit D5, which is Union customers only, and then appendix B, which is Union companies.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Wanless, go ahead.

MR. WANLESS:  I am happy to use those numbers as a starting point.  I am, however, still a bit confused about them.

I wonder if, as a starting point, we can turn to the answers to Union's undertaking responses that was --distributed this morning.  And turn specifically to the answer to my undertaking of yesterday, which is -- which is Exhibit J1.3.  Do you have it?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Is that a table, first column is entitled "Power Generators" and second column is "Parent Company"?

MR. WANLESS:  That's the one.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Very good.  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  As I understand Union's evidence, these are all Union ratepayers in the T2 and Rate 100 category; is that your understanding?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is my understanding.

MR. WANLESS:  And is it your understanding that these are the only ratepayers that are affected by this current application that is currently before the Board?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is my understanding.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay.  Well, here is where my confusion arises.

According to this list, there are 10 distinct companies relating to 15 projects.  That obviously doesn't correspond with the numbers in this survey, and it seems to me that if you wanted to do a survey that tells us information that is useful to this particular opt-out program, what would have been done is a survey just be sent to these 10 companies.

Would you not agree?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I would have to check and make sure that we're using -- we're defining this as the same.

I just need to make sure that they are not doing something like there are two units of the same station are, you know, counted as two different customers.

MR. FRANK:  Madam Chair, if I could be of assistance, I think I mentioned earlier that it is our belief that all of the customers who would have received this would fall in the current T2 Rate 100, except possibly one.

Maybe that accounts for the difference between 10 and 11 unique companies.

I would also point out -- and this is with no disrespect -- we were directed to provide, as best we could, areas of intended cross-examination.  We also, all parties, had an opportunity to do interrogatories.

Of course, APPrO -- and we will work with Navigant.  We will work to get all of the information that is appropriate and necessary for the Board in a very timely fashion, but part of the reason we don't have this at our fingertips is because we didn't have any prior notice of it.

In any event, I think that might be of assistance.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. WANLESS:  Just actually to follow up on a point that was just raised, I am not sure that the discrepancy can be explained so simply.

As I understand it, your survey was sent to 19 – 19 what?  19 companies, or 19 plants?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It was sent to -- the total survey was sent to 32 plant managers at 19 plants.  And that is the total APPrO membership; that is not only just the Union.

MR. WANLESS:  Right.  And let's focus on what is currently before the Board, which is Union.

And so the number of 19 was used before.  Is that 19 companies, or 19 plants?  Or what are we talking about here?

MR. ZARUMBA:  19 is companies.  32 is -- are plants.

MR. WANLESS:  Sorry.  I am referring to the response to our undertaking of this morning.

I understood that -- and believe the number in the census was 19.  And I'm trying to -- and I understood that to be specifically relating to Union.

So I am wondering, is that 19 companies or 19 plants of Union that this was sent to?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Okay.  A moment, please.

MR. WANLESS:  Actually, I might be able to ask a couple of other questions, which might be able to speed this up a little bit.  I have a practical and what I think would be a reasonable solution to this.  In fact, we did ask an interrogatory about this.

A simple way of -- we now have a list from Union of all of the ratepayers that are affected by this application.  That is a very useful starting point.

What I might recommend is that we get an undertaking to provide the answers to -- to how many of these were provided with the survey, how many responded, and what their responses were.

Can we get that undertaking?

MR. ZARUMBA:  What their responses were by respondent is not possible.  These were confidential surveys.

We could provide you with summaries of answers for Union customers.  Is that what you desire?

MR. WANLESS:  No.  I would like a specific answers relating to specific companies, and I understand that you -


MR. ZARUMBA:  That is -- that's not allowed in Ontario.  There is a code of ethics for market research.  That would be a direct violation of that code.

MR. WANLESS:  And that duty is, I take it, owed between your company and the people that you survey?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It is a code of conduct for anybody who performs market research in Ontario.

MR. WANLESS:  Did you -- when you spoke to these companies, did you ask whether they minded if this information would be shared with the Board?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We told them that individual responses would be held confidential.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Wanless, I think there is a fine line between some questions that could have legitimately be asked in the interrogatory process, and I think you are getting there.

Some of the earlier questions you had with respect to reconciling the numbers, in terms of what the number of -- what the census represented in terms of numbers and how many in that census represented Union customers and how many then responded, I think that should -- should be a fairly simple question to answer, but I think that a breakdown of this table -- putting confidentiality issues aside -- is starting to get into an area where, if it was very important to your argument, it likely -- and it does sound like it requires a little bit of work -- it should have been asked through the interrogatory process.

MR. WANLESS:  And no disrespect, but in fact we did have a specific interrogatory asking for that specific breakdown and that was refused on the grounds of confidentiality, so I am just following up on that particular interrogatory.

MS. CONBOY:  And so there was no motion filed at that point to deal with that when the interrogatory wasn't responded to your satisfaction?

MR. WANLESS:  Well, no, because I thought we may be able to deal with it in cross-examination.

Again, I am actually not sure it would be that much work.  We are talking about ten companies, and I think they probably have the list over there of what -- of who responded, and we're not talking about a huge sample size.  It is very small, and I think it would be an easy question to ask and answer.

MS. CONBOY:  Fair enough in terms of numbers, but when you get an interrogatory that starts talking about confidentiality, waiting to come to an oral hearing and start asking those types of questions I think is probably a different matter.

MS. HARE:  I actually don't understand the relevance in any event, whether -- which of these companies said what.

MR. WANLESS:  Well, there's --


MS. HARE:  Maybe you could help me that.

MR. WANLESS:  There is a couple of different ways that I would say that is relevant.  This application is specifically about whether an opt-out should be granted to a fairly narrow group of companies.

Those companies have, I suppose, decided not to come directly to the Board to make submissions directly to you about what they think about that.  Instead, an association has done that on their behalf.

What they have done is they have gone out and got a survey which they now claim confidentiality over, which I think is contrary to the spirit of the public function of this Board and to the spirit of openness.

It seems to me that these ratepayers directly benefit from the arguments being put forward, and they should be obliged to show themselves.  And I actually would like to make submissions on that point.

I think that in -- there's a simple solution to my earlier questions about the survey and what we can make of it, and that is simply to provide a list of who the survey was sent to, who is in the specific group that we're talking about, who responded and whether they would opt out, if given the option.

I think all of those are highly relevant to this Board's determination.  So those are my submissions on those particular points -- that particular point.

I would like either that be ordered, that the specific information be provided, and, if it is not ordered, then I am not sure that this survey should be relied upon, especially because it is difficult to make heads or tails of what the numbers mean.

[Board members confer]


MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Frank, would you like to respond to Mr. Wanless's submissions?

MR. FRANK:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

First, I would echo some of the comments that, Madam Chair, you have already made.  But I would start by saying, number 1, leaving aside any substantive issue about what my friend has said, from a process perspective, with all respect, this makes no sense.

We are in the middle of a hearing process.  As you have pointed out, Madam Chair, the interrogatory process came and went.  There was no motion.

There is also no suggestion or evidence before the Board that a survey or census of this form, where respondents don't put in their specific names, is in any way unusual or improper.  And it strikes me that this is also not in accord with the Board's direction that parties provide and exchange intended areas of cross-examination.

This clearly would have been known to my friend that he would be exploring this area.  Had he even asked last night, Can I please get some more details, we would have been saving the Board and everyone here a lot of time today, because we would have obtained all and any readily-available information that is appropriately asked for.

So I find the entire process, frankly, a bit of an ambush, and I would agree that I don't really understand the relevance of knowing the specific respondents' specific position.

The point of a survey and -- a census, I should say, in a report like this is to provide information about the -- pardon me, the targeted group.  It's not to find out what any particular individual knows.  That is not APPrO's position, that it is relevant that one particular member takes a position.

We may have evidence from any particular generator, but it strikes me that it is just wholly irrelevant.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Would anybody else care to make a submission on that?  Mr. Millar?

[Board members confer]

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Wanless, you've got your response from the undertaking J1.3.  They have given you the companies that have responded.

MR. WANLESS:  Union has, yes.

MS. CONBOY:  We have the numbers that the census went out to, the number of respondents.  I think to drill down further -- and you actually also have a company here that is advocating for an opt-out clause that you are able to cross-examine, as well.

I think to ask for an undertaking to marry up the name of the companies as to who wants to opt out is taking it a little too far.  So perhaps if we can move along with your cross-examination using the numbers that you've got, and we can take it from there, please.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay, thank you for that.

Part of the reason that I was raising this, in addition to my concerns about the principle, was also just as a practical solution, that at the moment I'm still -- the numbers aren't adding up.  I thought this was just a simple way that we might be able to figure out what is going on.

MS. CONBOY:  Well, maybe you could make that in final argument and it can go to the weight, to your arguments about the weight of the survey, please.

MR. WANLESS:  Thank you.  I wonder if I could get an undertaking, though, relying on Exhibit J1.3, if I can get numbers -- without referencing names, the number of these companies and power stations that received the report -- or, sorry, that received the survey, the number that responded to the survey, and specifically how many of these responded that they would opt out.

MR. ZARUMBA:  If these are all APPrO members - and they look like it, but this is not my exhibit, so I couldn't attest to that - they all would have received the survey.

In terms of the respondents, I do not --


MR. FRANK:  Madam Chair, I could advise that at least one of the parties listed -- power generators listed here is not a member of APPrO.  So, I mean, we're starting to kind of mix apples and oranges and create some new survey and a sub-survey and a subset.

Again, I am puzzled as to why -- I understood the direction and the order from the Board and from you, Madam Chair.  That makes sense to me.  And to start to now create new information, again, if this was relevant, there was an interrogatory process.  You know, we're -- and I am troubled by the relevance of it, in any event.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Wanless?

MR. WANLESS:  I would say that it is directly relevant.  We have a survey that I am having trouble understanding.  This particular hearing is about Union ratepayers under T2 and Rate 100.  And the survey, for it to be useful at all, we need to know what it says about that.

And that's what my question is directed at and what the undertaking is directed at.

MS. CONBOY:  And I think the numbers give you -- I am at a bit of a loss, as well, in terms of we've got the number of respondents and these are the ten companies for 15 projects.  They're all companies in the T2, from what I understand.

I mean, you can go on the website to see which one is not an APPrO company.  I am presuming that is not a big issue.

MR. WANLESS:  I apologize.  Perhaps I am not making myself clear.

The problem is the survey identifies a lot more than what Union says is in the group that we're concerned about.
And given that discrepancy, I am not sure how we could actually use the survey productively.

So I was wondering if, perhaps, if that information exists, it would be useful to everybody.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Frank?

MR. FRANK:  I would just repeat the submissions I made earlier; they're equally applicable.

MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Wanless, I think we are -- we are going to proceed with what we've got.

We've got the numbers, as I had said before.  You've got these lists of companies.  You can ask questions on what we've got with respect to the survey.

If it's not -- if your client is concluding that there is something wrong about the survey or there is not enough information in the survey in order to draw proper conclusions, the Board cannot draw proper conclusions from it, let's make those in argument.

Okay?  So please proceed.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay.  Thank you.

I believe that you heard yesterday and also in Union's evidence that the large-volume industrial DSM programs have a TRC benefit-to-cost ratio of 8.1:1.

Would you not agree that Union's industrial programs are exceptionally cost-effective?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I did not review their industrial programs, so I...

MR. WANLESS:  I am not asking you to sort of comment on the accuracy of that, but if you heard that somebody had a TRC benefit-to-cost ratio of 8.1:1, would you consider that to be exceptionally cost-effective?

MR. ZARUMBA:  A result of a 0.1 would be -- would be considered a cost effective program.

MR. WANLESS:  It is not just cost-effective; it is exceptionally cost-effective, isn't it?

MR. ZARUMBA:  That is why it would make me very suspicious that it is that high.

MR. WANLESS:  You testified earlier that you have experience across North America dealing with DSM programs?

MR. ZARUMBA:  In regulatory issues and other aspects of a DSM programs, yes.

MR. WANLESS:  Have you ever come across a TRC benefit-to-cost ratio that is as high as 8.1?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Probably come up with some, yes.

Although that is one of the reasons why I would be very -- sometimes you can get some that are very high, I think especially with smaller customers.

The issue is that when you get a large customer -- well, you're talking about industrials.  That is not the subject of my testimony.

And that is one of the points that I am making, is that energy efficiency tends to be most cost-effective when customers lack information, don't really care about energy efficiency; they have other things to be concerned about.  And two -- three, lack access to capital.

And, you know, focussing back on my reports and my results, that is generally not characterized by electric generators.

MR. WANLESS:  So in your experience, you generally haven't found a TRC ratio of 8.1 in industrials; is that fair?

MR. ZARUMBA:  You're talking about industrials, and again, the subject of my testimony is electric generators.

MR. WANLESS:  So in electric generators, you have never seen something that high?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It seems a bit high to me.

MR. WANLESS:  Okay.  Would you agree that if -- that the pursuit of all DSM opportunities with a TRC benefit-to-cost ratio of greater than 1 would result in a reduction of a greenhouse gas emissions and make the economy more competitive?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. WANLESS:  Why would you not agree with that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Because that is a very complex question.

First of all, you made about three assumptions.

Would it reduce greenhouse gasses?  Probably, but I'm going to say maybe not always, because you might be doing projects resulting in -- you know, that have other attributes.

But I would say, probably, in terms of making the economy more competitive, possibly not, because it could be damaging the economy elsewhere.  So I would say no.

And I would remind you I have two degrees in economics.

MR. WANLESS:  Well, thank you for that.  I have not doubted your qualifications.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Thank you.  And I don't doubt yours either.  You're an excellent attorney.

MR. WANLESS:  I would ask you to turn to Environmental Defence's Interrogatory No. 2.  This is your response to Interrogatory No. 2.

MR. FRANK:  Mr. Wanless, could we get the exhibit number for that?

MS. CONBOY:  D1?

MR. WANLESS:  I believe it is Exhibit No. D1.

MR. WANLESS:  Page 4.  Do you have it?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. WANLESS:  And we asked if the Ontario Energy Board were -- permitted the opting-out option, do you believe that the expected magnitude of natural gas savings in cubic metres would rise, fall, or stay the same for customers that opted out?

And you responded that you didn't have sufficient information to answer this question.  Is that still your answer?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.  Although, I will be honest, I don't believe that opting out would really change investment behaviour, resting on my earlier comment.

Where DSM is most effective is customers that, you know, have no access to capital, have a lack of information, or it is just not top of mind.

I think DSM is incredibly effective under those circumstances.

When you have a business entity such as an electric generator, where efficiency essentially is the most important attribute, I think that DSM actually would have little or no benefit.

MR. WANLESS:  Mr. Russell, I have a few questions for you now.

MR. RUSSELL:  Mm-hmm?

MR. WANLESS:  According to the last paragraph of your testimony, you state that:

"While we appreciate Union's efforts on these matters, we at LDE do not believe that Union's DSM programs is an imperative to our operations.  We are self-motivated, have extensive expertise in these matters, and would be dedicated to seeking natural gas savings regardless of Union's involvement or assistance."

Is that correct?

MR. RUSSELL:  That's correct.

MR. WANLESS:  We have asked you some questions earlier regarding -- or some questions were asked earlier regarding your economic model.  In fact, we asked, as an interrogatory, for specifics.

You did give a response back, but -- I wasn't sure -- it seemed to be fairly general.  And I was wondering if you could provide more specifics on that.

MS. CONBOY:  Could you point us to the interrogatory in question, please, Mr. Wanless?

MR. WANLESS:  Yes.  It's Interrogatory No. 5.  Also Exhibit D1.  And that is found at page 7.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. FRANK:  Madam Chair, if I may, I would make the same statement I made when Mr. Poch was cross-examining, that, at a general level, I think questions and obviously responses are appropriate.

But there becomes a point where we cross that line, and I am not sure we're there yet, but I just want to point that out.

MR. WANLESS:  I guess perhaps I can just cut to the chase and to the point.

I take it the reason that you stated that Union's DSM programs are not imperative to your operations is that you have a general belief that you generally would be doing about the same with or without this program; is that fair?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. WANLESS:  I am wondering what that is based on.  I am wondering if you have gone and crunched the numbers on that.

MR. RUSSELL:  As I described earlier, we do not include Union's DSM funding; while we have used it, we do not include that in our economic test for projects.

And so while we go through to evaluate projects, as I described earlier, there are projects coming up that may fall into a feasible position due to reasons outside of the DSM program.  The city's excavating the road, for instance.

But as we look forward and as we go through project evaluation, there are none that have -- that DSM program would impact.

MR. WANLESS:  Can you guarantee that you will give the same energy efficiency savings if you opt out?

MR. RUSSELL:  Can I guarantee?

MR. FRANK:  I'm not sure I understand what that means.

MR. WANLESS:  Well, I guess the root of the question is that right now Ontario needs to cut its greenhouse gases.  It needs to do so somewhere.  You want to opt out of this program.  I am wondering, at the end of the day, if you opt out, if you can guarantee that there will be as many energy savings as if you had stuck in the program.

MS. CONBOY:  Is this different than the line of questioning that Mr. Poch made in terms of not have having to pay in and, having that money, where would that capital go?

MR. WANLESS:  In some ways, it is a more general question, and -- well, it is a general question.

I am just wondering, end of the day, bottom line, if you opt out, are there going to be as many savings and can you guarantee that today?

MR. RUSSELL:  Well, I can't guarantee what the energy efficiency opportunities will be in either case.  So, no, I can't guarantee it.

The bottom line here is that we're committed to energy efficiency.  I am personally, and the company is.  It is our number 1 area that we can actually see, if you just want to talk dollars, profit as well, is by reducing our fuel cost.

I mean, we're also -- we have expertise in energy efficiency in matters from top to bottom, from myself to our chief engineer, who has over 20 years of experience, to our staff.

I mean, there is a culture of conservation throughout London District Energy.  We have even put it to the point of having staffs' individual performance review tied to the distribution system losses and having them look at reducing thermal losses through that.

So, I mean, to get back to your question about a guarantee, no, I don't think there is any way to guarantee that, but I do know that we will be pursuing, when available, when possible, energy efficiency projects.

MR. WANLESS:  Just a couple of more questions.  Everything else being equal, will higher gas costs motivate Veresen to spend more on energy efficiency investments?

MR. RUSSELL:  In general terms, I think I can agree, because generally speaking, all things being equal, higher gas costs would equate to higher, potentially, economic savings on an energy efficiency project.

MR. WANLESS:  And everything else being equal, will financial incentives that reduce your costs of investing in energy efficiency motivate Veresen to spend more money on energy efficiency investments?

MR. FRANK:  Sorry to interrupt.  The question was directed at Veresen and the witness is a witness for LDE.

MR. WANLESS:  I will substitute "LDE" for Veresen.

MR. RUSSELL:  Sorry, can you just repeat it?

MR. WANLESS:  Sure.  Everything else being equal, will financial incentives that reduce your costs of investing in energy efficiency motivate LDE to spend more money on energy efficiency investments?

MR. RUSSELL:  In general, financial incentives, yes, but as I described earlier, at this time - and this goes back to Mr. Poch's question - we are not able to commit those potential incentives into our capital decision-making process due to the unknown nature of them.

MR. WANLESS:  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Crane, I think you had indicated that you didn't foresee any cross-examination, but it depended on what came up.

MR. CRANE:  Yes.  Nothing on behalf of IGUA.  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  I thought you -- oh, I see.  I was going to save you to last.

MR. MILLAR:  I will be about 90 seconds, so it might make sense for me just to go now.  I know Mr. Smith wanted to go last.

MR. CONBOY:  I thought Mr. Smith wanted to go last and after Board Staff.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Just very quickly for Mr. Zarumba, and I'm not sure you will be able to answer all of these, but I will run them by you, in any event.

I think I heard you indicate earlier during your testimony that power producers in Enbridge's service territory do not pay into DSM.  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think your microphone is off, sir.

MR. ZARUMBA:  My apologies.  The answer to that question is yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I believe -- I think you were here yesterday.  I think we heard the same thing from Union's witnesses or maybe elsewhere in the evidence.

But just to follow up on that -- and, again, I don't know how familiar you are with Enbridge's service territory and its rates, but it is my understanding that most power producers in Enbridge's service territory are in what they call Rate 125.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Not really.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Whatever rate they're in, it is my understanding that that rate, that entire rate, does not pay DSM.  In other words, it is not an opt-out in Enbridge's service territory.  It is simply that that entire rate class does not pay into DSM or get DSM programs.

Do you happen to know if that is correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I don't know for a fact that that is correct, but that would seem reasonable, and that is actually very consistent with the results of several jurisdictions in our survey.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As far as you know, Enbridge doesn't have an opt-out.  The reason power producers there don't pay for DSM is because that class is excluded.  Does that match your understanding?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As I understand it, some power producers in Enbridge are also in Rate 300, which similarly doesn't pay into DSM at all.  I take it you don't happen to know the ins and out of Enbridge's rates, though?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No, I would not purport to be an expert in that area.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Smith.
Cross-examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Good afternoon, panel.  Could I ask you to turn to page 2 of the Navigant report?

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  The paragraph that begins "for large natural gas customers", do you see that paragraph?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Do you see there is a sentence that says, and I quote:
"In fact, 86% of APPrO members surveyed indicated that they had an existing energy management program in place."


My question is about that sentence.  Does Navigant have any way of knowing how respondents understood the term "energy management program"?

MR. ZARUMBA:  When performing the survey, you know, there was in some cases elaboration, because this was a -- it was a script, but very often they would go off script if there was a question.

But, essentially, it was a program that would manage the heat rate of the plant would make the plant more efficient.  I think that is a general answer, but it would be -- it's a reasonable answer.

MR. SMITH:  Just to make sure I understand, are you saying that the question may have varied a little bit between questioners, but the gravamen of it was really about that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Okay.  When doing a survey sometimes, you know, you need to elaborate.  You will get a question, What do you mean by...

MR. SMITH:  No, no, I understand.

MR. ZARUMBA:  It is trying to keep it focussed, you know, because even the tightest written sentence sometimes could be subject to interpretation.

MR. SMITH:  I completely accept that.

I guess my question is really about how much we can know about what they understood, because -- I am going to just articulate a proposition, and let me know if you agree with this proposition.

Some may have heard the question, felt they knew exactly what that meant, and answered it accordingly.

Others may have probed and been directed by your questioner back to what was the sort of central question, but we don't exactly know the breakdown of that.  Would that be fair?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It's fair.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

In your professional opinion, can the Board be confident that survey respondents understood "energy management program" to necessarily include the volumetric measurement by an independent third party of achieved natural gas conservation?

MR. ZARUMBA:  It sounds to me like you are talking about an evaluation measure.

Are third parties employed by power plants when doing measurements?  I think they are in some cases.  I remember during my days at Sargent & Lundy, I remember some of the engineering people going out and doing this third-party testing.

But in general, a power plant is essentially measuring that almost on a continuous basis, and that's -– actually, maybe the details of that type of measurement are better -- better addressed by my colleague.

MR. SMITH:  My question isn't really about that.

My question is -- and I accept that you may not accept what you take to be a built-in premise of my question, that there should be or that there normally is third-party verification.

My question is simply:  Can the Board be confident that respondents would have understood it that way?

And I think from what I am hearing from you, the answer is no, but...

MR. ZARUMBA:  Well, the question didn't include third-party verification.  So if you are going to basically -- did the respondents respond knowing something that wasn't in the question?  No.

MR. SMITH:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

Could I ask you to turn up APPrO's response to Union's first interrogatory, please?

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Could you help me out where we are?  Just so we're...

MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  So we are in Exhibit D3, page 1 of 5.

MR. ZARUMBA:  D?  D, as in David, 3?

MR. SMITH:  Correct.  D, as in David, 3.

Okay.  And just by way of background to this question, I invite you to look at question (c) and the response to it.  If you want to take a moment to do that, please go ahead.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So as I read that response, APPrO is, among other things, taking the position that correspondence between APPrO and APPrO members that is related to the survey is irrelevant, covered by common interest privilege, and not producible.

I am not going to ask you any questions about the merits of that legal issue, but I am going to ask you a question of fact.

And that question is:  Do you know if there were any communications between APPrO and APPrO members related to the survey but not produced in this hearing?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

And would I be right to assume that Navigant didn't have any access to those communications?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I don't know if there was any communications or not.

MR. SMITH:  Quite right.  I am making an assumption there.  Thank you.

So if there were any such communications, as far as you know Navigant didn't have access to them; is that correct?

MR. ZARUMBA:  If they exist, we did not have access to them.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

If there were any such communications between APPrO and APPrO members related to the survey, could such communications, in your professional opinion, have an impact on survey results?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Possibly.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

15 of the 32 plant managers you sent the survey to responded to it, and two of the 15 were not Union customers.  That is my understanding.  Is that your understanding?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Subject to check with the numbers, but yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Okay.

APPrO is claiming litigation privilege over communications with its membership.  I am not going to ask you about that, but I am going to ask you if, in your professional opinion, that should have any bearing on how we should interpret the silence of the 17 plant managers who did not respond to the survey you sent to them, as a matter of professional judgment.  Should that inform our reading of that silence?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Are you stating -- I just want to clarify the question.  I am not trying to be troublesome.

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. ZARUMBA:  That you feel that those -- that number of managers that did not respond, should that impact the weight which the Board places on the survey, I would say no, because this was actually a fairly solid response rate.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.

In response to Union Interrogatory 1(c), APPrO takes the position that correspondence between APPrO and APPrO members relating to the survey includes personal information that, in accordance with industry practice, is confidential.

In your professional opinion, is APPrO required by the Marketing Research and Intelligence Association Privacy Code to keep confidential correspondence between APPrO and APPrO members relating to the survey?

I understand that you may have an obligation.  I am asking you if, in your professional opinion, APPrO has such a responsibility.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I have no opinion on that question.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

And you have no answer, I take it?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes, I have no -- I have no opinion on that question.

I know what my responsibilities are as a representative, a director at Navigant Consulting, and what my obligations were to those individuals and firms which we surveyed.

MR. SMITH:  Sure.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Outside of that and outside of the report, I have no -- you know, I have no opinion.

MR. SMITH:  I don't want to spend too long on this.  I am not asking for your opinion; I am asking for your knowledge.  Do you know?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No, I don't.  I don't know, and I --


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.

Moving on to APPrO Response to Union Interrogatory 4(c), if we may -- and please take a moment to just read the question and the response.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Please tell me everything you know about that telephone conversation.

MR. ZARUMBA:  That telephone conversation, I believe, was held by Mr. Glen Wood, an associate director at Navigant, somebody who has been resident as an energy professional in Ontario for, I believe, 30 years or so.

I did not personally carry out that interview.  I did carry out several others, though.

MR. SMITH:  I understand.  So do you know anything else about it at all?

MR. ZARUMBA:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. ZARUMBA:  Just my discussions with Mr. Wood.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Okay.  Well, can you tell us what Mr. Wood conveyed in those discussions?

MR. ZARUMBA:  He basically conveyed that the plants were not covered, and that it was the opinion in Minnesota, a state that has some very extensive energy efficiency and renewable standards, that they, the regulatory body there, did not consider it proper that electric generators would be covered in these programs.

MR. SMITH:  Anything else?

MR. ZARUMBA:  There were some other conversations.  I would have to check private notes, but I think that sums it up with...

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Well, that will do.

MR. ZARUMBA:  I mean, I have known Mr. Wood for a number of years and I trust his work.

MR. SMITH:  I have no reason to doubt it.

Could I ask you to turn to Union's evidence?  This is appendix B to Exhibit A, and once you are there, if you could turn to page 4, please.

And this is the --


MR. ZARUMBA:  Just a moment, please.

MR. SMITH:  Sure.  Just for the purpose of helping to identify it, I was going to say this is the slide deck titled:  "T1 customer energy savings."

MR. ZARUMBA:  I do not believe I have a copy of that document available.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

[Mr. Frank passes copy of document to Mr. Zarumba]


MR. ZARUMBA:  Thank you.  Very good.

MR. SMITH:  Have you seen this slide before?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I reviewed it.

MR. SMITH:  You did.  Do you want to take a moment to review it now?

MR. ZARUMBA:  We can move ahead.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So this is just prompted by something that you said in passing in the course of Mr. Wanless's cross-examination, which was, I think -- and I am paraphrasing.  I don't have the transcript, so forgive me if I am paraphrasing loosely.

But I thought you said that you would tend to be skeptical of an 8-to-1 ratio.  Do you remember that?

MR. ZARUMBA:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  So that just prompted me to think of this, and I just -- this is my last -- the last thing I want to ask you about, is looking at this, understanding that you've only had a chance to review it briefly beforehand and are looking at it now, just as a matter of professional judgment, does this arouse your skepticism?

MR. ZARUMBA:  I would need to review the document in a lot more detail than I have.  I'm not sponsoring this document, so it's...

MR. SMITH:  Fair enough.  I just wanted to take the opportunity to ask and see if you were -- had a view.

So I will move on now to some questions for Mr. Russell.  First of all, we'll just get this out of the way, the Veresen letter that is marked Exhibit K1.2.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And my question is:  Do you have any reason to doubt that this exhibit is a copy of what it appears to be; namely, a letter from Veresen -- sorry, Veresen regarding Union's DSM program?

MR. RUSSELL:  I have no reason to doubt that, no.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Do you have any reason to doubt that the author of this letter was authorized to speak on behalf of Veresen in regards to this matter?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  So I would like now to turn to a matter that came up earlier in your examination, Mr. Russell, and that's the whole issue of how your plant would be treated under the application as it's being proposed, not the program as it existed in the past.

MR. RUSSELL:  Sure.

MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to probe that briefly.

Am I right to believe that your plant would fall into the new T2?

MR. RUSSELL:  After inquiries into that, from my understanding from Union Gas staff, yes, that would be the case.

MR. SMITH:  And that seems reasonable to you?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Thanks.  Would you accept, subject to check, that LDE is entitled to seek in the neighbourhood of $13,000 for DSM initiatives, and, if they comply with the program, could allocate that full amount?  Do you know that?

MR. RUSSELL:  I do not know the actual values that would fall into LDE's -- due to the size of the plant, I don't know the $13,000 value.

MR. SMITH:  Well, my question isn't so much about the quantum as about the mechanics.

MR. RUSSELL:  Mm-hm.

MR. SMITH:  I am telling you that our information is that it is in the range of $13,000.  So take that for what it is worth.

The question is, really:  Do you understand that under the program as proposed - not the old regime, the new regime - you are entitled to come to Union and say, I would like to take that full $13,000 and throw it at X project, and if it conforms to the program requirements, that you can just do that?

MR. RUSSELL:  That has been my general understanding, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay, good.  You mentioned earlier in your evidence that there were a series of initiatives, DSM initiatives, you'd been involved with with Union, or probably more appropriate to say LDE had been involved with, because some of them maybe predate you.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Do you happen to know the amounts in question, like, the dollar figures?

MR. RUSSELL:  Of the funding?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me what it is?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.  The Condex initiative was $14,665.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  In what year was that?

MR. RUSSELL:  That was difficult for me to ascertain.  It was prior to my time.  I believe the cheque was cut in 2011, but the project would have been more likely to have occurred in 2009.  So I'm not 100 percent sure on the exact date.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. RUSSELL:  The St. Joseph Hospital project included three initiatives, condensate return insulation and steam traps, and respectively those values were 40,000, 36,000 and $5,580.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. RUSSELL:  Then the more recent project, as I had previously described, we recently received a cheque for the condensate return on Dundas Street for $40,000.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Mr. Frank, have you got re-direct?
Re-Examination by Mr. Frank:

MR. FRANK:  Very brief, Madam Chair.

Just while we're on it, when was the Dundas project actually completed?

MR. RUSSELL:  Early 2012.

MR. FRANK:  And you said you just received the funds now?

MR. RUSSELL:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  Mr. Poch was asking you certain questions about whether the new program would create enough certainty for you with regard to availability of funds that, for example, you might know by August of a certain year that certain funds are available.

My question for you is:  When does LDE budget for capital expenditures or efficiency programs for any given year?

MR. RUSSELL:  Generally speaking, for planned efficiency measures, that process takes place in Q3, September/October.

MR. FRANK:  Q3 of what year?

MR. RUSSELL:  Of the previous -- or of the year prior to the following -- the year in question.

MR. FRANK:  So having a determination that certain funds are available in August of 2013, does that assist in any way in the budgeting that LDE does for 2013?

MR. RUSSELL:  No.

MR. FRANK:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

The panel is excused with the Board's thanks.

We are going to break for two hours in order for Union to prepare for their argument in-chief.

There were a couple of areas that the Panel would be interested in hearing about, if you are able to cover it, and that is mindful of where we are in 2013, the first day of February and moving forward to getting a decision out as quickly as we can, does that affect the August 1st date that we've been speaking about over the past day and a half?

And, secondly, if the Board were persuaded by GEC's proposal of the two years, how might that affect the August 1st date?  And, in fact, Mr. Poch may have covered a bit of that in his cross-examination.

The other thing is, Mr. Poch, I am aware that you are going to be taking off and might not join us after the lunch break, but we are reconvening on Tuesday to receive oral argument from intervenors.  So I just wanted to make you -- remind you of that.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  Board Staff has in fact communicated with counsel, and I think he is taking a poll of who is available.  I have indicated on my behalf it is problematic for me to be here, but I will certainly file written evidence that day for you, so hopefully I won't delay anything.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
Okay, so we will -- we will rise until 3 o'clock.  Thank you very much.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:05 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:08 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Thank you.  Mr. Smith, we will hear your argument in-chief.
Final Argument by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

Allow me to first give the Board -- well, actually, before I even do that, you should have a compendium that we have prepared, and in our haste to prepare this compendium, we organized it by tabs, but we don't have tabs.  We have numbers in the top right-hand corner.  It's sub-optimal, but I think we'll be fine.

MS. CONBOY:  okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I would propose we mark that Exhibit K2.3, which is the Union Gas argument in-chief compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  UNION GAS ARGUMENT IN-CHIEF COMPENDIUM.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  So here is a road map to my submissions.  I will first address the Board's two questions from before lunch, and then proceed to an overview of the rest of Union's argument, and then go into that.

So with respect to question 1:  How should the fact that we are now in February impact the August 1st deadline?  From Union's perspective, the answer to this first question is that Union doesn't believe that the August 1st deadline should be moved as a result of the fact that it is February the 1st.

Funds can be protected by earmarking them for an approved project by August 1st and spending them by the end of the year.

There is one date that would have to move, though, and that's the date that the deadline for submitting the energy plan arrives, and that used to be April 1st, and if you went in this direction, in our submission, it should be June 1st.

On the second question:  How would a two-year approach bear on the August 1st deadline for spending or earmarking funds?  The answer to this question is that if the Board decides to go with Mr. Neme's two-year proposal, then the August 1st deadline should move to December 31st, 2013.

This deadline would give T2 and R100 customers adequate time to access or earmark their designated incentive amounts, but at the same time it would also give other rate class members time to use those undesignated incentive amounts in the aggregate pool at the end of 2013, if they're essentially abandoned.

So now moving on to the overview of the main argument, first, I will briefly summarize Union's position and what Union is proposing in this application.  My submission on this point will be that Union's application should be approved as filed.

Second, I will address APPrO's proposal to introduce the so-called opt-out into Union's high-volume DSM plan.  My primary submission on this point is that, depending on how it would be structured, an opt-out would either (a) be unfair to other rate class members, or (b) would be unfair to other rate class members and would also compromise the viability of the program and constitute an undesirable precedent-making departure from fundamental rate-making principles.

As an aside, I will also argue that the Navigant study should be given little weight.

Third, I will address GEC's proposal to change Union's large volume DSM program from a one-year program to a two-year program.  My primary submission on this point is that doing so would (a) ensure added complexity and risk, (b) encourage or at the very least facilitate procrastination on the part of busy customers who have higher priorities than pursuing conservation initiatives, and (c) would create a potential for larger deferral amounts.  And we'll have more to say about why that is highly undesirable.

All of this would be in the name of a speculative hope that customers will be encouraged to pursue larger projects and, in our view -- in our submission, rather, there is no solid evidence before the Board that that is in fact going to happen.

Fourth, I will address Environmental Defence's proposal to increase the large volume DSM budget.  My submission on this point is that such an approach is one-sided and will result in a customer backlash against Union's large volume DSM program.

Finally, I will argue that the primary irritant that led to this matter proceeding all the way to a hearing was the 2011 deferral issue and that, in our submission, the Board should not attempt to address that issue by unwinding decades of precedent on fundamental principles of rate-making.

So on to my first issue, Union's position.  Union freely acknowledges that power generation customers possess expertise to undertaken energy efficiency programs on their own that result in natural gas savings.  In Union's submission, this fact should not be seen as a matter of controversy in this proceeding.

The Board has acknowledged this fact in the DSM guidelines and stated that DSM proposals for such customers, if proposed, should be considered on their merits.

I would just like to take you to that very briefly.  That's the first tab of our compendium, and it is side-barred, 8.2:
"The Board is of the view that large industrial customers possess the expertise to undertake energy efficiency programs on their own.  As a result, ratepayer funded DSM programs for large industrial customers are no longer mandatory.  If any are proposed, they will be considered on their merits.  The Board defines large industrial gas customers..."

And so on and so on...

Now, I think a sort of false dichotomy has haunted this proceeding, and that false dichotomy is, if the power generators are expert at conservation, then there can be no more to do.  And I think we heard an articulation of this with Mr. Zarumba's evidence earlier today.  And I'm paraphrasing, because I don't have the transcript, but he suggested something to the effect that talking about a power generator that does not deal with energy efficiency is like talking about a bank that does not specialize in money, or something like that.  In other words, the two are one in the same.

By analogy, we would take a different view.  We say that banks sometimes work with financial consultants.  There's something to be said for a pair of fresh eyes even where the party taking the first look has expertise.

The real question, in our submission, is not whether power generation customers possess energy efficiency expertise.  They do.  The real when question is whether the program proposed in Union's application complements that expertise and helps customers achieve additional natural gas savings and a reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, which is the focus of DSM.

And I just have at tab 2 that language from the overview of the DSM guidelines, where it says:
"While the focus of DSM is natural gas savings and the reduction in greenhouse gases emissions..."

I assume that means "gas emissions", and then an aside.  And it is important to remember that's the point, in my submission.

So all of that leads me to our submission that Union's application, as filed, is meritorious and should be approved.

Now, I just want to go briefly into Union's history with high volume DSM, because I think it is worth remembering that it has been a history of success, and this is about continuing that success, ideally.

So if you go to tab 3, I won't dwell on these, but I assume you've seen them before.  They're annual and cumulative lifetime savings in the millions, and then over the next page, that is just a graph indicating that overall program cost effectiveness is increasing year over year by an average of 50 m3 saved per DSM dollar spent.

And tab 4 is the same for the Rate 100, mutatis mutandis.

Then I have included here, but I won't take you through it, the answer to an undertaking that Mr. MacEacheron referenced in his evidence, because I think
it's tab 6, the transcript that comes next, references that.  So I just wanted you to have that.

And I will just start around the middle of the page.  I think you will recall this, where this came in.  It's page 8, so it is early on.

Sorry, line 7:

"Over that four-year period, we've saved, together with our APPrO member companies -- have saved over 230 metres cubed of natural gas.  And that is roughly the equivalent of what 100,000 homes would burn in a year".

So I just included that because with these huge orders of magnitude, it is easy to lose sight of that, and I think that really concretizes it.

Union's application in the present proceeding builds on that success by encouraging further program participation, and by responding to the concerns of large-volume DSM customers.

In developing the application, Union consulted with affected customers.  Union's consultation efforts are described in Union's written direct evidence, starting at page 4 of 36.  I won't take you to it; I am sure you have seen it.

Union conducted customer focus group meetings as part of its development of the large-volume DSM plan for 2013-2014.

At those meetings, it became clear that the cost recovery -- cost recovery and deferral charges related to 2011 were a major issue for some customers.

And I just wanted you -- to take you to tab 7.  This is the customer feedback summary for the T1 group, and I think that first bullet under "Cost recovery and deferral charge" really deserves some scrutiny.

It reads:

"Customers supported Union's DSM program, then were subsequently embarrassed by the potential 2011 deferral billing."

What I understand from that -- knowing what we know about the volume of the average deferral being around $600,000 -- is that it has to be the case that various people in these customer companies sort of own the relationship and are supposed to manage it.  And can you imagine what it would be like to be that person, then to find out that there is a $600,000 deferral and to have to go into the person you report to's office and say:   Guess what, you know that -- you know that thing I am supposed to be managing?  We have to pay $600,000 that we didn't see coming.

That's a very awkward position for our customers, you know, our customer allies to be in, and we want to protect them from that position.  We don't want to go back there.  That will be a theme of my submissions today.

So that's what I think is really important to take away from that.

And tab 8 is just the same thing for the R100s.

And then at tab 9, I've given you, side-barred, Mr. MacEacheron's testimony about how customers clearly express that they never wanted to be in this situation again, and I will just read it out:

"Our concern with respect to the 15 percent and what we heard loud and clear from our customers in the consultation sessions that we had was, We don't want to see a deferral account like 2011 again, ever.
"And so we heard loud and clear, Give us predictable costs, minimize the volatility of the DSMVA.  They wondered:  What is this strange thing that visited these large costs on them?  So minimize where you can, Union, the DSMVA."

So turning to a program overview, Union's program is responsive to these concerns.  An overview of the program is in Union's written direct evidence, starting at page 6 of 36.  The program includes the following five offerings.  I think it is worth revisiting this, because so much emphasis is just on the cash incentive.

There are customer engagement, engineering feasibility and process improvement studies, O&M optimization, new equipment and processes, and energy management.

These offerings are described in Union's written direct evidence, which I have included at tab 10 of the compendium, but which I -- just for convenience, but I don't propose to take you through them.

So Union proposes to do a few things.

One, to deliver the same program offerings and maintain a budget consistent with its Board-approved 2012 budget, adjusted for inflation.

Also, T1 customers will retain access to an aggregate pool of customer incentives throughout the year.  This approach, as we know, has driven projects in the past.

The new T2 and the Rate 100 customers will have access to a new direct-access budget mechanism.  These customers will have full access to the customer incentive budget they pay in rates.  If they don't use the funds to identify and implement energy efficiency projects, they lose the funds to other customers in their rates.

This provides enhanced flexibility to access a greater level of incentives for individual large project studies.

And you can see that if you look at tab 11, which is a PowerPoint from the 2012 EnerSmart program elements, which Mr. MacEacheron talked about.

And if we look, it is program element engineering feasibility study; the incentive is 50 percent of the costs up to $10,000, and so on and so forth, the idea being that there is a cap there.

Then over at tab 12, this is that testimony, Mr. MacEacheron saying:

"On slide 8 -- on slide 8 we presented this again at all of our customer consultations sessions.  Our program elements are documented on that slide.  So I thought it might be helpful with this questioning to see our program elements.  And on the right-hand side, you will see incentives and you will see engineering feasibility study at 50 percent of the cost, up to $10,000."

So it is capped.  So on and so forth.

So the point is this is a place where we have introduced flexibility.  The cap isn't there anymore, if you have the money to surpass the cap.

So Union's targets, in my submission, balance the goal of maximizing gas savings with generating broad customer participation amongst large-volume gas users.  For T2 Rate 100 customers, Union has applied a 30 percent discount factor to the 2013 target for this metric.

This reflects the fact that the direct access budget mechanism provides flexibility to fund a greater percentage of incremental project costs, studies and audits.

Union's program goals and program strategy are set out in Union's written direct evidence at pages 23 of 36 -- at page 23 of 36, excuse me.  And I have included that in the compendium.

Union's goals and strategy are practical and based on Union's in-the-field experience with these Ontario large-volume DSM customers.  It is an approach based on responsiveness to challenges that arise and continuous refinement to produce continued success.

So that's all I have to say on my first point.

I am now going to move on to my second point, regarding APPrO and opt-out.

APPrO proposes an opt-out from Union's large-volume DSM program.  An initial question is:  An opt-out from what?  This issue was addressed in Ms. Lynch and Mr. Tetreault's testimony yesterday.

One version of the opt-out, the version that they were talking about involves a customer opting out of the customer incentive equivalent of the 68 percent of what they pay in rates.  This approach would result in a cross-subsidy within the rate class.  Those remaining in would bear the full burden of the costs assigned to the rate class as a whole.

And on that point, I'd just turn you to tab 14.  And starting at line 16 -- well, I guess I will start with the question.

Ms. Dullet asked:

"Can you explain that, the customer incentive?
"Ms. Lynch:  So under our direct access budget model for incentives, each customer would receive a customer incentive equivalent to 68 percent of what they pay in rates.  So again, depending on design of how an opt-out program would work, our expectation is that we would need to continue all of the components, portfolio portion of the program, but it would only be that incentive piece for those who opted out that we would then look to reallocate to other customers.
"Ms. Dullet:  Would you -- would the customers who do not opt out, is it plausible they would be paying more for DSM services?
"Ms. Lynch:  Yes, it would be possible.
"Ms. Dullet:  Would the portion of their rates linked to the DSM materially increase?
"Mr. Tetreault:  They could, yes, if you're recovering the DSM budget over a smaller group of customers."

And then I will just skip to the bottom of the page, starting at line 21, where Mr. Tetreault says:
"I think the main negative consequence -- and there could be others -- the main one is the one we just spoke about, that being essentially a cross-subsidy within a rate class, where the remaining customers in a class pick up all the DSM budget costs that have been allocated to that class, because certain customers have chosen to opt out of paying costs that have been allocated to the rate class."

Over the page:
"There could be other consequences.  That is -- from a rate-making standpoint, that is the main one, the cross-subsidy issue."


The opt-out that APPrO is advocating is, in my submission, more extreme as is it not only unfair to others in the rate class, but also threatens the viability of large volume DSM programs by cutting the overheads, including technical resources, that make the program possible.

The danger posed by APPrO's approach became evident in the course of APPrO's cross-examination of the Union panel, and this is tab 15, page 126, and Mr. Frank says, starting at line 13:
"And I understood you to say earlier -- I believe it was you, Mr. Tetreault -- that if that was removed, that would remove the main cross-subsidy cost?
"Mr. Tetreault:  Yes.  When I was referring to earlier in the cross from CME was the fact that if -- and in her example -- there was one customer remaining in the class, that customer would pay -- would pay all the DSM costs allocated to that class at that point.
"Mr. Frank:  Right.  But if the incentive piece was removed -- the $900,000 in that example -- such that that customer remained responsible only for $100,000, as it had been previously, then there would be no impact as a result of the opt-out, on that portion at least?"


And then Mr. Tetreault cuts to the heart of the matter and says:
"Yes, that's fair.  Yes, that's fair.  Recognizing of course that any type of opt-out for any customer of costs that had been allocated to the -- to any particular rate is violating a fundamental principle of class ratemaking whereby all customers in the class pay the same rates."


And then Mr. Frank speaks of how we will get to that, which no doubt we will.

So as I understand this exchange between pages 126 and 130, which I won't take you through all of, but which you have, APPrO appears to take the position that DSM is, in essence, a service and that customers should be able to opt out of the service at their own volition, just as they can opt out of the provision of other services.

Such a position does not recognize that DSM is part of Union's distribution service to customers, which is a cost that has been allocated to the rate class.

That type of opt out violates the fundamental principle of class rate-making whereby all customers in a class pay the same rates.  If this is indeed APPrO's proposal, then it is not merely an attack on Union's application, but on class rate-making itself.

Finally, the special treatment that APPrO is seeking for their members is premised on the assumption that they are power generators and that that means they have no conservation savings to be gained by participating in DSM.

If Mr. MacEacheron's evidence is accurate - and I submit that it is - then that premise is false, and I will briefly take you to some of that.  It is at tab 16, and it's at page 8, picking up where the black line drops off.
"And so we have also provided in that interrogatory response a list of project applications, and you can see the list below.  There's 18 on that.  The list could be much bigger than that, but we boiled it down to those 18 applications.  And the first one you can see here is steam system upgrades, repair and maintenance, condenser optimization.  So you can see that there are a number of programs that we can deliver to power generation customers.
"I would like to pause there for a second, because the notion created by the statement -- and Navigant repeats it more than once in their evidence -- that our programs don't fit with gas-fired power generators, I would like to clarify.
"A gas-fired power generator takes natural gas and burns it in a gas turbine, and that produces electricity.  It turns a generator and produces electricity.  Roughly about 35 percent efficient.
"They then capture the waste heat out of the -- from the exhaust of the turbine.  They put that into a waste heat recovery steam generator, and they make steam.  And they use that steam for one of two purposes.
"One, to put it in a steam generator and make more electricity, and thereby increase the electrical output of the facility and with the same unit of energy.
"Or they take that steam and they give it to a host site for steam application, typically an industrial site, commercial building, what have you.
"So that steam portion of a gas-fired generator's plant is identical to any steam system, high-pressure steam system that you would find in a large-volume industrial plant."


And so I won't go on and read all of that, but I just remind you of his evidence on that point.

So at this point -- oh, I should -- also, before I leave APPrO, I wanted to speak of the survey.  And we had some questions today about privilege and about professional responsibility, and I have no doubt you have very little interest in watching me trying to cut that Gordian knot.  I am not interested in it.

All I am interested this is the fact that that sort of cluster of claims, I am going to call them, I think reduces the weight that you should place on the survey.  I just think one has to do so much work to pierce through it, and, if you want something, come to the Board and ask.  That is my submission.  I don't propose to spend any more time on it than that.

So moving on to GEC's two-year proposal, Mr. Neme suggests that for 2013-2014 Union should extend the time line for the T2 Rate 100 direct access program from one to two years.

This suggestion appears to be informed by a desire to enhance program flexibility for customers and to encourage larger projects that Mr. Neme believes will lead to larger reductions.

These are laudable goals.  Union has not and will not dispute Mr. Neme's credentials.  Union does not dispute that Mr. Neme is an informed commentator on these issue who has an interesting theoretical perspective that is worthy of thoughtful consideration.

Accordingly, Union carefully considered Mr. Neme's report and his recommendations of extending the program to two years.  In light of Union's on-the-ground experience with these customers - not theoretical customers, these customers - Union has concluded that a two-year approach is not preferable.  On the one hand, it would guarantee added complexity and risk and would encourage or at least facilitate procrastination on the part of busy customers who have higher priorities than pursuing conservation initiatives.

I should also pause there, because that is maybe not an entirely fair characterization.  Another aspect of this, I think, is that having that use-it-or-lose-it element really gives the internal client advocate for conservation initiatives the attention of management, you know.

If you say there's steam coming out of somewhere, it may be a priority.  Maybe a blanket goes over it for a month or whatever.

If you say, If we don't spend this money by a certain date, we're going to lose it and others in the rate class get to scoop it, that gets management's attention.  The money gets spent.  The conservation happens.

So the other thing that I should say is that moving to this two-year proposal would allow for that potential procrastination or disempowerment of the internal advocate, however you want to put it, and it would do so in the name of a speculative hope that customers will be encouraged to pursue larger projects.

And so I have included at tab 17 more of Mr. MacEacheron's evidence on that point.  It starts around line 13 of page 68.  He says:
"But that's -- you know, it does allow the customer also the opportunity to say, I'll revisit this file next year."

That is, the two-year model:
"I've got production problems coming out of nowhere here.  Energy efficiency is not my thing."

I am going to gloss that:
"If I'm not going to lose my funds this year, tell you what, let's talk about it next January."

And he goes on.  I won't take you through all of it.  So Mr. MacEacheron gave evidence that there was no particular appetite among customers for a two-year program - I think this is important - because while there is some theoretical appeal and while flexibility is a good, it is not everything.

And ultimately this is about responsiveness to customers.  In consultations, they said that the August 1st use-it-or-lose-it deadline sounded about right.

And that is at tab 18 of the compendium, and it starts at line 15.  He says:
"There's a bit of a delicate balance in there.  When I met with the customers to review our draft at that time, direct access concept, the August 1st date was discussed extensively with the customers.  They said:  Well, this is different.
"And I said:  Well, we're going to give you sole access, dedicated to you, for the amount of incentive dollars you pay in rates.  But if you don't use it or have it earmarked for a project by August 1st, you will lose it.
"And they thought:  Okay. August 1st was fair.
"And what I thought was really interesting -- and I am recalling one customer presentation with two of my largest industrial customers, looking at one another and saying:  Well, if you're not going to spend your dollars by August 1st, I'm going to."

You will remember that moment.

In my submission, it shows that it's striking the right balance; you know, these are real customers, real conversations.

I'm going to move on now to the proposal of increasing the large-volume DSM budget, and all I'm going to do is refer you to tab 19, which is my redirect to Mr. MacEacheron.

And I asked him:

"Given the customer reaction..."

This is at the top of 148.
"Given the customer reaction that you saw to the deferrals in 2011 and APPrO's reaction to that, how do you think APPrO members would react to that proposal?  Namely, the proposal of simply upping the budget on large volume?"


Answer:

"They would not want their budget -- I would fully expect that they would not want their budget upped on their large-volume accounts."

And now finally, I think this is an appropriate -- and that's all I have to say on that proposal.

The final thing I am going to touch on is what I alluded to at the beginning of my submissions, which is the perils of unwinding the 2011 deferrals in the context of this proceeding.

And here, I would just ask you to turn to tab 20, which is the Veresen letter which has been lingering in the background of this proceeding since its appearance yesterday morning.

And I think the real question that this letter raises is:  How did we get from here to here?  You know?

We heard evidence today that Veresen was asked by Union to write it.  I don't see how that really changes anything.

I think what's clearly happened is that there was a problem with deferrals.  There was frustration, and it has upset the entire billion of the DSM relationship.

And in resetting that balance, I think we have to guard against deferrals.  That's going to be very important.

And the last thing I will say, the last thing I will say is that while this is regrettable, that we got here this way, what would be still more regrettable is trying to address this issue, which, you know, has been addressed by the Board through the DSM Guidelines, which Union has followed, trying to address that by unwinding decades of precedent on a point of fundamental ratemaking.

Those are my submissions.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I just have a very quick question.

When was the 2011 deferral account, the amount, when was that known?  Or, I should say, disclosed to customers?

MR. SMITH:  We would have filed the 2011 deferrals in March of 2012.  We were talking to customers as soon as we knew what those balances were, so I would say probably before we filed, and we've been talking with customers ever since then.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  I have no questions, Mr. Smith.  Thank you very much for your argument in-chief.

And we will reconvene on Tuesday, although I understand with a small group of intervenors that will be filing or will be presenting oral submissions.

Do you recall who it was that said that it was -- CME, I think?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That's right.  CME, and I understand IGUA, as well, now.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  But those are the only two?

MR. MILLAR:  We haven't heard from everyone, though the majority of people we have now heard from.

Staff will be here, as well.

MS. CONBOY:  You are grabbing the microphone, Mr. Frank?  Have you got --


MR. FRANK:  Is that who will be doing oral?

MS. CONBOY:  Yes.

MR. FRANK:  APPrO will be here for oral.

MS. CONBOY:  Great.  Well, thank you very much.  Then we'll see you at 9:30 on Tuesday.  We are excused.  Have a great weekend, everybody.  Thank you.
  -- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:45 p.m.
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